
Copeland Borough Council
The Market Hall
Market Place
Whitehaven
CA28 7JG

PLANNING PANEL 
AGENDA 

 
 Venue The Atrium, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 

Whitehaven CA28 7SJ  
 Date: Wednesday, 18th May, 2022 
 Time: 2.00 pm 
 Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby                Tel: 07385 362806 

  
1.   Apologies for absence 

 
 

 
2.   Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

 
 

 
3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 13 April 2022 

 
1 - 4 

 
4.   Schedule of Applications 

 
 

 
 a)   Application 4/21/2368/0O1 - Land at Nethertown Road,  

St Bees 
5 - 32 

  Outline application for a residential development with all 
matters reserved. 
 

 

 
 b)   Application 4/21/2369/0R1 - Land to the south of Southrigg, 

Nethertown Road, St Bees 
33 - 60 

  Application for approval of reserved matters relating to access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale following outline 
planning approval 4/20/2491/0O1 - residential development. 
 

 

 
 c)   Application 4/21/2534/0O1 - Land at Bowrie Fauld, West of 

Smithy Banks, Holmrook 
61 - 96 

  Outline residential application for residential development with 
all matter reserved except for access. 
 

 

 
5.   Schedule of Delegated Decisions 

 
 
 
 

97 - 112 

 

Public Document Pack



6.   Date and Time of Next Meeting:  
  

The next meeting of the Planning Panel will be held on Wednesday 
8 June 2022 at 2:00pm in the Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Membership: Councillors Joan Hully (Chair), Michael McVeigh (Deputy Chair), 
Jackie Bowman, Graham Calvin, Tom Higgins, Linda Jones-Bulman, 
Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath, Graham Minshaw, Russell Studholme and 
Doug Wilson 
 
 
Contacts: Direct Dial: 07385 362806 
 E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk 
 Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 



PLANNING PANEL 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 13 APRIL 2022 
 

Present: Councillors Joan Hully Michael McVeigh, Jackie Bowman, 
Graham Calvin, Linda Jones-Bulman, Charles Maudling, Ged McGrath, 
Graham Minshaw, Russell Studholme and Eileen Weir. 
 
Officers: Nick Hayhurst (Head of Planning and Place), Michaela Peet (Assistant 
Solicitor) and Clive Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer). 
 
 

PP 21/106 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence received from Councillor Doug Wilson. 
 
 

PP 21/107 Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items:  
 
Councillor Michael McVeigh declared an interest in Application 4a 
(4/22/2076/TPO) – 2 Park View, Egremont due to being a relative of the 
Applicant. 
 
All Planning Panel members declared a non pecuniary interest in Application 4a 
(4/22/2076/TPO) – 2 Park View, Egremont due to knowing the speaker, 
Councillor Sam Pollen. 
 
 

PP 21/108 Minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2022  
 
Consideration was given to the Minutes of the meeting held on  
16 March 2022.  
 
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meetings held on 16 March 2022 be signed 
by the Chair as a correct record. 
 
 

PP 21/109 Schedule of Applications  
 
The planning applications were then taken in the following order. 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



PP 21/110 Application 4/22/2076/TPO - 2 Park View, Egremont  
 
Note:  Councillor Michael McVeigh left the room at this point and took no part in 
the discussion or determination of this application. 
 
The application for the removal of an English Oak Tree (Resubmission of 
4/21/2541/TPO) was presented by the Head of Planning and Place. 
 
During discussion of this item the applicant, Mr P McVeig addressed the panel. 
Councillor Sam Pollen then spoke in support of this application.  
 
Following questions from Members, a vote was then taken. 
 
The result of the vote was 6 For, 1 Against and 2 Abstentions. 
  
RESOLVED – that the application be Refused for the felling of the protected tree, 
but pruning of the tree be permitted. 
 
 

PP 21/111 Schedule of Delegated Decisions  
 
The Panel was notified of a number of delegated decisions made during the 
period 7 March 2022 to 1 April 2022. 
 
RESOLVED – that the Schedule of Delegated Decisions from 7 March 2022 to 1 
April 2022 be noted. 
 
 

PP 21/112 Update on Planning Application 4/18/2287/0O1 - Land at Harras Moor, 
Whitehaven.  
 
Members received an update on Application 4/18/2287/0O1, Land at Harras 
Moor, Whitehaven (Outline Application for development of up to 370 houses 
with associated Open Space and infrastructure), which was submitted by Homes 
England on 26 June 2018. 
 
Panel was reminded that, following a site visit, the application was considered 
on 18 September 2019 where members were minded to refuse, against the 
Officer recommendation. Previous update reports were presented to the panel 
on 1 September 2021 and 24 November 2021. 
 
 
 

Page 2



 
Members were appraised of the actions undertaken by the applicant since the 
last update and advised that a further update would be made within three 
months (as per the Constitution) if the application was unable to be presented 
to the Planning Panel for a decision in the intervening period. 
 
RESOLVED – that the update be noted. 
 
 

PP 21/113 Development Management Performance Monitoring  
 
Members received the Development Management Performance figures for the 
fourth quarter of 2021/22 (1st January 2022 – 31st March 2022) against the 
National Performance Indicators. 
 
RESOLVED – that the Development Management Performance Monitoring 
report be noted and the Planning team be thanked for their continued hard 
work.  
 
 

PP 21/114 Date and Time of Next Meeting:  
 
The next meeting of the Planning Panel will be held on Wednesday  
18 May 2022 at 2:00pm in The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, Whitehaven 
(Subject to confirmation by Council). 
 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 2.55 pm  
 

 
Chair 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



  

                                                    

        

                                                                               

To: PLANNING PANEL 

 

Date of Meeting: 18/05/2022 

Development Management Section 

  

 

 

Application Number:   4/21/2368/0O1 

Application Type:   Outline : CBC 

Applicant:     Sunshine Properties West Coast Ltd 

Application Address:  LAND AT NETHERTOWN ROAD, ST BEES 

Proposal OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR A RESIDENTIAL 

DEVELOPMENT WITH ALL MATTERS RESERVED 

Parish:    St. Bees 

Recommendation Summary:   Approve in Outline (commence within 3 years) 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4a



  

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel 

The application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel due to an 

objection from the Parish Council and due to the significant local interest in the application.  

Members will also have benefitted from a site visit prior to the determination of the 

application following a request from the Parish Council. 

 

Crown Copyright.  Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 

prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005). 

Page 6



  

The Site 

The application site relates to an area of agricultural land which fronts onto Nethertown 

Road, on the southern edge of St Bees. The sloping site covers an area of 0.37 hectares, and 

adjoins the development site which was approved under outline planning application 

reference 4/20/2491/0O1 to the north in March 2021. Nethertown Road lies immediately to 

the west with residential properties to the east and open countryside to the south. The 

properties located to the east of the application site are set at a higher level than both the 

application site and the existing properties on Nethertown Road. 

 

Relevant Planning History  

4/20/2491/0O1 – Outline application for residential development – Approved on adjoining 

site.  

 

Proposal  

This outline application seeks to establish the principle of developing the site for residential 

purposes for up to two dwellings. All matters relating to scale, layout, appearance, access 

and landscaping are reserved for future consideration.  

Whilst all matters are reserved for subsequent approval, an indicative layout plan has been 

submitted with this application to show how the site could accommodate two detached 

dwellings. The indicative layout also indicates that the development would utilise the 

frontage onto Nethertown Road as an access point, with each plot benefiting from parking 

and turning spaces. The entrance point would also provide access to the adjoining site which 

was granted outline planning permission (ref: 4/20/2491/0O1) for up to three dwelling in 

March 2021 by Members of the Planning Panel.  

This application is accompanied by the following:  

- Location Plan;  

- An Indicative Site Plan;  

- Location Map; 

- Indicative Site Section; 

- Planning Statement;  

- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal;  

- An Access Appraisal.  

 

Consultation Responses  

St Bees Parish Council  

 

22nd September 2021 

 

The Parish Council wishes to express its opposition to this application in the strongest 

possible terms. The Council believes that linear development of this type, which extends the 

Page 7



  

village southwards along a narrow country lane, is entirely inappropriate. The Parish Council 

objected to the previous application for three properties on the site, which was 

subsequently approved by CBC, and continues to oppose any further development on the 

site. The site is outside the settlement boundary which has been in place for many years and 

is outside the settlement boundary proposed in the new draft Local Plan 2021 – 38. We 

accept that the old Local Plan is now out of date but the new Local Plan is in the final stages 

of preparation before going to full council for approval. As the proposed settlement 

boundary in unchanged from the previous Local Plan, the Parish Council believe that the 

two together should carry greater weight in considering new application for development. 

The view of the Parish Council is that it would be unreasonable and illogical to approve 

further development outside the proposed settlement boundary at this stage.  

 

The drawings indicated that the site entrance will be 25m from the entrance to Southrigg. 

The report by WYG shows that the road is only 205mm at this point with no pavements or 

lighting. The road is frequently used by walkers and cyclists and further traffic from a new 

development will only add to the dangers. The report from WGY on the behalf of the 

applicant gives the results of a traffic survey undertaken between 3rd and 9th August 2022. 

However, this does not represent a typical period. Over the summer of 2020 many people 

were continuing to work from home due to the Covid situation, so commuter traffic to and 

from Sellafield was much less than normal and this undermines the viability of the study.  

 

The planning statement contained within the application states in para 5.13 that the site will 

not be prejudiced by flood risk. However, the drainage report contained within the 

application 4/21/2369/0R1 states on page 9 that there is a high probability of surface waster 

flooding to the area where the two new properties are to be sited, The Environment Agency 

map indicates the extend and range of surface water flooding and shows the range of risk 

between medium and high.  

 

1st December 2021 

 

Thank you for forwarding details of the amended application. The Parish Council has 

considered this carefully and notes that the amendments do not address the concerns 

outlines in our earlier letter of 21 September. The Parish Council remains opposed to this 

application for further development of this site on three main grounds: 

 

1.The Settlement Boundary  

The site is outside the settlement boundary which has been in place for many years and is 

outside the settlement boundary proposed in the new draft Local Plan. In approving the first 

application for this site, limited weight was given to both the old Local Plan which is out of 

date and the draft new Local Plan which was still in the course of preparation. However, the 

new Local Plan is now further advanced and is about to go before full council for approval. 

The Parish Council believes that the draft Local Plan should now be given greater weight in 

considering this new application for development.  

Page 8



  

The Council believes that linear development of this type, which extends the village 

southwards along a narrow county land is entirely inappropriate. The Parish Council 

objected to the previous application for three properties on the site, which was 

subsequently approved by CBC, and continues to oppose any further development on the 

site. Having established the principle of development by the previous application for three 

dwellings, the applicant is now applying for permission for additional development. Such 

incremental applications can avoid the requirements relevant to an application for a larger 

development. If this application is approved, further application may yet follow for this site.  

2.Flooding & Drainage Issues 

The planning statement contained within the application states that the site will not be 

prejudiced by flood risk. However, the drainage report commissioned by the applicant and 

contained within the application 4/21/2369/0R1 states on page 9 that there is a high 

probability of surface water flooding to the area where the two new properties are to be 

sited. The Environment Agency map indicates the extent and range of surface water 

flooding and show the range of risk is between medium and high.  

The recent prolonged period of wet weather has demonstrated that this is not simply a 

theoretical risk. There has been extensive flooding of the area where the new properties 

would be built with a deep pool of water over an arear of approx. 20, by 40m which has 

taken many days to drain away. It is evident that water is draining onto the development 

site from Egremont Road. Not only would the proposed new properties on the site be at 

significant risk of flooding but other properties on Nethertown Road and Sea Mill Land 

would be at added risk if the site is developed. The applicant states that the drainage of 

surface water would be dealt with a s reserved matter but it is very difficult to see how any 

drainage system could be designed to remove this flood risk. The frequency of heavy and 

prolonged rain is increasing as the climate changes to this can no longer be regarded as a 

rare occasional event. It would be contrary to established policy to allow development in 

areas subject to flooding or which would add to the flood risk for other properties.  

3. Highway Issues 

The site entrance will be from a narrow single track road which is only 2.5m wide at this 

point with no pavements or lighting. The application includes a report from WYG which 

gives the results of a traffic survey undertaken between 3rd and 9th August 2022. This does 

not represent a typical period. Over the summer of 2020 many people were continuing to 

work from home due to the Covid situation, so commuter traffic to and from Sellafield was 

much less than normal and the traffic volume and speeds in the survey are unlikely to be 

typical.  

The site is very close to the start of the 30mph restriction for traffic entering the village from 

the south. The report does not explain where the counters were placed, and therefore 

whether the measurements reflect the stopping distance of traffic approaching the exit 

from the proposed development at increased speeds from outside the nearby 30mph 

restriction. The planning statement states that the highways report provides an assurance 

that suitable visibility splay can be provided. However, the limitation of the survey 

undermine the validity of the conclusion.  

Page 9



  

The Parish Council has serious concerns about the safety of pedestrians and cyclists using 

this road. There is no pavement or lighting and it is simply not possible for a large vehicles to 

pass a pedestrian with a pushchair safely and a cyclist was recently knocked off her bike by a 

large van on this section of road. The dangers will be exacerbated by vehicles turning in and 

out of the new development. There are examples elsewhere in St Bees of developments 

taking place with no requirement to provide a pavement and the failure to deal with these 

issues at the planning stage continues to cause safety concerns. As an example, CCC has 

recently undertaken an expensive scheme to address the lack of pavement at one location 

in the village. The road was widened in front of the existing properties on Nethertown Road 

where they were built and it would surely be appropriate for the Highways Authority to 

require a similar widening of the road in this case to protect pedestrians.  

Although detailed highways matter would be considered as a reserved matter, there are 

real concerns about how large vehicle such as refuse vehicular and delivery lorries will be 

able to manoeuvre into and out of the site. The Parish Council would wish to see turning 

space within the public highway rather than on private land to ensure long term access. If 

large vehicles are unable to turn the next crossroad is at the Coulderton junction approx. 1.5 

miles further south and there is concerns that drivers would attempt the dangerous 

manoeuvre of revering back along Nethertown Road to avoid the lengthy diversion.  

Cumbria County Council – Cumbria Highways & LLFA 

 

13th September 2021 

 

This proposed small development of Two detached dwellings replicates and extends the 

current layout and arrangement of houses on the north side of Nethertown Road. I note 

that this is a low speed and narrow rural road with an 85th %ile speed of 22.5mph with no 

footway, but no recorded accidents in the last 5 years according to our database. 

The additional traffic likely to be generated by the proposal will not have a material impact 

on highway conditions, but the sustainability of the site needs to be considered. Although 

the site is on the outskirts of the village and there are no footways on Nethertown Road I 

note that it is only 0.5 miles to the centre of the village, its facilities and school. I consider 

that it is not unreasonable for walking journeys especially since there is a footway on the 

B5345 and the visibility along 

Nethertown Road is good. It is considered not necessary to provide a footway along the 

frontage as there is no connectivity available to the west and a footway would urbanise the 

location further and the increased width and lack of inconsistency of provision could impact 

on highway conditions. 

The layout and detailed design of the development should address the following points, 

with reference to the Cumbria Development Design Guide for the appropriate standards: 

• a compliant shared or individual private driveway(s); 

• parking provision and turning arrangements; 

• servicing arrangements (refuse and van deliveries); 

Page 10



  

• measures to prevent surface water run-off running onto the road from the 

driveway(s); 

• consideration of permeable materials for all driveways and parking areas; 

• position of any driveway gates (must open inwards and be set back at least 5m); 

• construction traffic management plan; 

 

Lead Local Flood Authority 

It is noted that the site is in Flood Zone 1 area and not shown to be at risk at any forms of 

flood risk. Whilst the application form states that the surface water strategy will discharge 

water to a soakaway, which deals with the water as near to source as possible, there is no 

supporting information or evidence to demonstrate that the surface water and flood risk is 

managed appropriately. 

However, due to the scale and location of the development, and overall low flood risk the 

LLFA is satisfied with the proposal in principle. Further information including infiltration 

testing and a full surface water strategy will be required in due course. 

Conclusion 

I can confirm that the Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority has no objections 

to the proposal, subject to the inclusion of conditions relating to the design, construction, 

and drainage of footways, visibility splays, surface water discharging onto highway, 

construction traffic management plans, and surface water drainage scheme. 

 

27th April 2022 

 

I can confirm that the response made to the previous application should still apply. 

 

United Utilities  

 

26th April 2021 

 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system with 

foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable 

way. 

The NPPG clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the developer when 

considering a surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the developer to consider the 

following drainage options in the following order of priority: 

1. into the ground (infiltration); 

2. to a surface water body; 

3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; 

Page 11



  

4. to a combined sewer. 

We recommend the applicant implements the scheme in accordance with the surface water 

drainage hierarchy outlined above. 

 

1st September 2021 

 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system with 

foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable 

way. 

The NPPG clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the developer when 

considering a surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the developer to consider the 

following drainage options in the following order of priority: 

1. into the ground (infiltration); 

2. to a surface water body; 

3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; 

4. to a combined sewer. 

We recommend the applicant implements the scheme in accordance with the surface water 

drainage hierarchy outlined above. 

 

19th October 2021 

 

No further comments to add to original response.  

 

16th November 2021 

 

No further comments to add to original response.  

 

Copeland Borough Council – Flood and Coastal Defence Engineer 

 

2nd September 2021 

 

The submission doesn’t state how foul sewage is to be disposed of, so can you please ask 

what is proposed. 

The UU layer on the GIS system does not show an adopted foul sewer in the immediate 

vicinity of the site. 

The surface water is to be disposed of by means of a soakaway, which is the preferred 

method of disposal. 

Page 12



  

At this time there is no evidence to show that disposal of surface water by means of 

infiltration is feasible, so the applicant needs to make sure that there are alternative means 

of surface water disposal for the site, should this not be feasible. 

14th October 2021 

 

I’ve received further information for the above planning application for consultation. 

However, this fails to answer the queries from my original response set out below. 

The submission doesn’t state how foul sewage is to be disposed of, so can you please ask 

what is proposed. 

The UU layer on the GIS system does not show an adopted foul sewer in the immediate 

vicinity of the site. 

The surface water is to be disposed of by means of a soakaway, which is the preferred 

method of disposal. 

At this time there is no evidence to show that disposal of surface water by means of 

infiltration is feasible, so the applicant needs to make sure that there are alternative means 

of surface water disposal for the site, should this not be feasible. 

19th October 2021 

 

The additional information is fine at this time for the outline application. 

I can now confirm, no objection. 

18th November 2021 

Just to confirm that I have no comments to make on the additional and amended 

information submitted. 

Natural England  

 

31st August 2021 

 

No comments to make on this application.  

 

21st October 2021 

 

No comments to make on this application.  

 

25th November 2021 

 

No comments to make on this application.  

 

Public Representation 

Page 13



  

This application has been advertised by way of a site notice, press notice, and neighbour 

notification letters issued to thirty-eight properties.  

Sixteen letters of objection were received in relation to this application which raise the 

following comments:  

- I repeat my concerns expressed previously, when the application for the first three 

dwelling on this development was submitted.  

- We were led to believe that permission would only be for three dwellings this is now 

increased by two. This is further development by stealth.  

- Will more plots be added? 

- Previous approval yet to be built.  

- Nethertown Road is a quiet single-track road, therefore use of heavy construction 

vehicles is of great concern.  

- The road is not built for this type of traffic. It has previously collapsed and has been 

underpinned to cope with existing traffic.  

- It is not wide enough for two cars to pass.  

- As a resident of Nethertown Road the disruption, congestion and noise that this will 

cause is disturbing.  

- What measures will be put in place to mitigate against potential damage caused by 

heavy construction traffic to Nethertown Road which impacts on normal access to 

my property.  

- Access to this road is essential for residents and the emergency services.  

- Where was the traffic survey carried out? If placed at the entrance to the site, they 

would not give a true picture of the traffic along this road to existing houses.  

- The development would result in a 50% increase in cars along this road.  

- Already busy road from Sellafield traffic this will add to problem. 

- Exit of Nethertown Road onto Egremont Road is difficult and dangerous due to lack 

of visibility. This has been raised with Highways with no results.  

- This junction is not fit for large vehicles.  

- Increased traffic means more danger for other road users including walkers, and 

cyclists.   

- No pavements. 

- These houses are not wanted in the village.  

- Drainage appears to be by soakaways. Geology of this area is strange and results in 

flooding of the site and road. Natural underground water course and drainage 

appear not to be as would be anticipated.  

- The sewer system will be put under pressure and will increase probability of floods 

and blockages.  

- Existing systems are old and not capable of taking more capacity.  

- This is cause villagers issues.  

- The Village Plan agreed some years ago limits where developments can go within the 

village these now appear to count for nothing.  

- Development on greenfield land. Development of brownfield sites should be 

encouraged in the village.  

Page 14



  

- The development is outside the settlement boundary for the village and is not 

included within the local plan. 

- The tranquillity of Nethertown Road will be spoiled forever.  

- Unsympathetic to the village.  

- St Bees is a lovely seaside village but will soon be known as a commuter town. 

- The ribbon development opens up the excuse to just keep building.  

- Development is only for financial gain.  

- Loss of ancient agricultural land to allow further irreversible damage to our village 

which is wrong and unacceptable.  

- Stop the slow creep of damage and destruction.  

- The development will go beyond the natural limits of the settlement.  

- Deep Gyhll Bank is located to the rear of the site and is designated as an area of 

great landscape and scientific value. The environmental survey does not 

acknowledge the surrounding landscape value of this site and adjacent woodland.  

- Wildlife in this woodland has also been ignored.  

- There is a vehicle access to Deep Gyhll Bank which will be blocked.  

- The development site together with the steep bank to the east is a unique glacial 

feature which has been undisturbed since the last ice age. It has been recognised as 

unique landscape.  

- There is no requirement for this type of housing in St Bees.  

- Not the answer to affordable housing requirements.  

- Increase in CO2 emission as children will be driven to school. 

 

Thirty-nine letters of support have been received in relation to this application which raise 

the following comments: 

- I unsuccessfully tried to buy one of the first three plots on the first phase of this 

development. These plots are exactly what I am looking for and would love the 

opportunity to buy and build my dream home in a fantastic village I have lived for 32 

years.  

- St Bees needs more new developments as there is a huge shortage of good big 

houses.  

- High demand for executive housing in the village. Lack of opportunity to move up 

housing ladder in the village.  

- I hope this and other development are approved giving people a change to build 

their dream home.  

- Great for St Bees and community.  

- Great views. Perfect location. 

- Opportunity for the area to step into modern day living.  

- St Bees is sought after area.  

- The development will not have any negative impact on the village itself.  

- The development will attract people to the village and support the local economy.  

- The development would enhance this location. 

- The location is ‘out of the way’ so will not spoil the look and feel of the village as 

some other proposed locations might.  

Page 15



  

- The development will not impact on other people and will blend into the existing 

property line.  

- Creation of work for local builders.  

- I live in the village and as there is a national housing shortage, we shouldn’t allow 

NIMBY attitude to become the prominent voice from a minority of people.  

- Five plots would look much better than three and would naturally reach the 

boundary of the village as per the houses on Egremont Road.  

- The first three plots have gone to existing St Bees residents, I hope this is the same 

for these two dwellings.  

- The development includes off street parking which is a problem in St Bees.  

 

Further to the submission of amended plans all neighbours, objectors and supporter of the 

application were reconsulted on this application.  

Seven letters of objection were received in relation to this application which raise the 

following comments:  

- Previous comments should be taken into account.  

- Submitted documents are inaccurate.  

- The road is narrow and not structurally sound enough to withstand the heavy traffic 

during the build.  

- The highway department should consider widening the road before the application is 

determined.  

- The road has previously collapsed and required diversion for several months. 

- Access needed for elderly, delivery, emergency services, etc.  

- Additional congestion on road.   

- Road popular with walkers, cyclists, etc .  

- It is an unspoilt road with minimum traffic and a peaceful setting. 

- Traffic survey undertaken when most of the country was working from home or on 

furlough.  

- Traffic survey takes no account of walkers or other road users. This should be 

undertaken again to reflect all.  

- Previous accident between bike and car.  

- Will access to existing homes be restricted?  

- The drainage system is not sufficient for the new dwellings.  

- The site is at risk of flooding not as stated within application. This contradicts the 

drainage report submitted as part of the reserved matters application for the 

adjacent site.  

- Site currently floods. 

- The development will be located over the area that currently floods.  

- Soakaways are proposed however further investigations of this will be needed. It is 

unlikely that this will be a viable option.  

- The author of the DSR, A L Daines & Partners state clearly that further investigations 

are necessary to support the foul water drainage strategy and as we now know the 

Page 16



  

field in question has surface water flooding issues. This further demonstrates the 

applicants have not met the necessary conditions asked of them. 

- Large amounts of excavation or filling required.  

- Original proposal inaccurate as it did not correctly describe access, village borders, 

speed restrictions and dry stone boundary wall.  

- Disappointed that residents viewed have been ignored.  

- The development will not fit in aesthetically with the nearby housing or local village.  

- Unacceptable visual impact and village infrastructure not able to cope.  

- The village boundary will need to be extended to accommodate these dwellings.  

- this application is to build on land outside of the existing St Bees settlement 

boundary and moreover outside of the revised village settlement boundary which is 

currently in the final stages of CBC approval.    

- Building homes for families negatively changes the composition of the area.  

- The prime minister accounted in a speech that beautiful homes should in future be 

built only on brownfield sites in places where homes make sense. This should be 

considered for this application.  

- Development blocks access to land to rear.  

 

Four letters of support have been received in relation to this application which raise the 

following comments: 

- The village would benefit from new homes.  

- I disagree with the comments from the Parish Council. They are very negative and 

they never seem to have anything positive to say when embracing change that will 

benefit the village in the long term.  

- We need more projects like this in the local area.  

- Eco friendly home.  

- Great views.  

- Gives people chance to design own home.  

- Private and set back from road.  

- Interest from local people and those wanting to move back to the village.  

- Quiet road with hardly any traffic 

- Boost for local economy and local tradesmen.  

- Adding to the local community will create footfall in the village that will use local 

amenities.  

- Beautiful family homes.  

 

Planning Policy  

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Development Plan  

Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Adopted December 2013)  

Page 17



  

Core Strategy  

Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles 

Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy 

Policy SS1 – Improving the Housing Offer 

Policy SS2 – Sustainable Housing Growth  

Policy SS3 – Housing Needs, Mix and Affordability  

Policy T1 – Improving Accessibility and Transport 

Policy ENV1 – Flood Risk and Risk Management  

Policy ENV3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

Policy ENV5 – Protecting and Enhancing the Borough’s Landscapes 

Development Management Policies (DMP)  

Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place  

Policy DM11 – Sustainable Development Standards 

Policy DM12 – Standards of New Residential Developments 

Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments 

Policy DM24 – Development Proposal and Flood Risk 

Policy DM25 – Protecting Nature Conservation Sites, Habitats and Species 

Policy DM26 – Landscaping 

Copeland Local Plan 2001-2016 (LP): 

Saved Policy TSP8 - Parking Requirements 

Proposals Map including settlement boundaries. 

Other Material Planning Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2021)  

National Design Guide (NDG). 

Cumbria Development Design Guide (CDG)  

Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2021 (SHMA) 

Copeland Borough Council Housing Strategy 2018 – 2023 (CBCHS) 

The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLGC) 

Copeland Borough-Wide Housing Needs Survey (2020) 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (CHSR). 

Page 18



  

Emerging Copeland Local Plan (ELP):  

The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has recently been the subject of a Publication 

Draft Consultation. The Publication Draft Consultation builds upon the previously completed 

Issues and Options and Preferred Options consultations. Given the stage of preparation of 

the Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 some weight can be attached to policies within the 

Publication Draft where no objections have been received. The Publication Draft provides an 

indication of the direction of travel of the emerging planning policies, which themselves 

have been developed in accordance with the provisions of the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  

The following polices are relevant to this proposal:- 

Strategic Policy DS1PU: Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development  

Strategic Policy DS2PU: Reducing the impacts of development on Climate Change  

Strategic Policy DS3PU: Settlement Hierarchy  

Strategic Policy DS4PU: Settlement Boundaries 

Strategic Policy DS5PU: Planning Obligations  

Policy DS6PU: Design and Development Standards  

Policy DS7PU: Hard and Soft Landscaping  

Strategic Policy DS8PU: Reducing Flood Risk Policy DS9PU: Sustainable Drainage 

Strategic Policy H1PU: Improving the Housing Offer  

Strategic Policy H2PU: Housing Requirement  

Strategic Policy H3PU: Housing delivery  

Strategic Policy H4PU: Distribution of Housing  

Strategic Policy H5PU: Housing Allocations  

Policy H6PU: New Housing Development  

Policy H7PU: Housing Density and Mix Strategic  

Policy H8PU: Affordable Housing 

Strategic Policy N1PU: Conserving and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

Strategic Policy N2PU: Local Nature Recovery Networks  

Strategic Policy N3PU: Biodiversity Net Gain 

Strategic Policy N6PU: Landscape Protection 

 

Assessment  

The primary issues relevant to the determination of this application are as follows:- 

- The principle of the development;  

Page 19



  

- Housing need; 

- Settlement character, landscape impact and visual impact; 

- Design and impact on residential amenity;  

- Flood risk and the achievement of satisfactory drainage;  

- The impact of the development on highway safety;  

- Ecology.  

 

Principle of Development  

The principle of new housing is supported in the Copeland Local Plan through strategic 

policies ST1 and ST2 along with policies SS1, SS2 and SS3. These policies seek to promote 

sustainable development to meet the needs and aspirations of the Boroughs housing 

market, as well as having consideration for the requirements of smaller settlements within 

the Borough, which respect their scale and function.   

St Bees is classified as a Local Centre under Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan. Policy ST2 

seeks to support appropriately scaled development in defined Local Centres which helps to 

sustain services and facilities for local communities. In respect of housing development, the 

following is identified as appropriate: within the defined physical limits of development as 

appropriate; possible small extension sites on the edges of settlement; housing to meet 

general and local needs; and, affordable housing and windfall sites. 

The application lies outside of the designated settlement boundary for St Bees, and as such, 

the proposal is in conflict with Policy ST2. Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan states that 

outside of the defined settlement boundaries, development is restricted to that which has a 

proven requirement for such a location, including housing that meets proven specific and 

local needs including provision for agricultural workers, replacement dwellings, replacement 

of residential caravans, affordable housing and the conversion of rural buildings to 

residential use. 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires the application of the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development to the provision of housing where there are no relevant 

development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the 

application are out-of-date. Out of date includes where the Local Planning Authority cannot 

demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as 

set out in paragraph 73); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of 

housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the 

previous three years.  

In November 2020, Copeland Borough Council produced a Five Year Housing Land Supply 

Statement which demonstrates a 6.35 year supply of deliverable housing sites against the 

emerging housing requirement calculated in the updated Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment (SHMA) and a 55 year supply against the Government’s standard methodology 

figure. Copeland Borough Council has also met the most recent Housing Delivery Test.  

Page 20



  

Notwithstanding the above, the policies in the Local Plan must still be considered out of 

date and only some weight can be given their content as far as they are consistent with the 

provisions of the NPPF.  

Consultation on the Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft (ECLP) ended in 

December 2020. The ECLP will, once adopted, replace the policies of the adopted Local Plan. 

The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has recently been the subject of a Publication 

Draft Consultation. The Publication Draft Consultation builds upon the previously completed 

Issues and Options and Preferred Options consultations. Given the stage of preparation of 

the Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 some weight can be attached to policies within the 

Publication Draft where no objections have been received. The Publication Draft provides an 

indication of the direction of travel of the emerging planning policies, which themselves 

have been developed in accordance with the provisions of the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  

The ECLP has been drafted based upon an evidence base. The SHMA calculates a housing 

need in Copeland over the plan period 2017-2035 of 140 dwellings per annum. The ECLP 

confirms that to meet the housing need identified in the SHMA, development will be 

required beyond the existing development boundaries identified in Policy ST2 of the CS.  

The ECLP continues to identify St Bees as a Local Service Centre reflective of the number and 

type of services it contains and identifies a settlement boundary around the town. The ECLP 

continues to identify the Application Site as outside but directly adjoining the revised 

development boundary for St Bees. Whilst the proposed development is in conflict with the 

emerging policies and provisions of the ECLP, as there are outstanding objections to the 

relevant policies applicable to this development, the identified conflict can be given little 

weight at present. 

In the context of the provisions of Paragraph 11, the defined development boundary for St 

Bees must be considered out of date. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that planning 

permission should be granted unless: 

i. The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. 

 

The site lies on the southern edge of the built-up area of St Bees, and the development site 

which was approved under outline planning application reference 4/20/2491/0O1. The site 

is considered to be within walking from the local services within the village which includes a 

primary school, nursery, Church, pubs, post office, shops, and community facilities.  

In applying the provisions of paragraph 11:  

- The site would assist in boosting housing supply to meet the identified need for 

housing in St Bees and the wider Borough;  

Page 21



  

- The proposed development comprising the erection of two dwelling is appropriate in 

size to the designation of St Bees as a Local Centre in accordance with the spatial 

objectives of Policy ST2;  

- The site lies to the south of the existing settlement boundary and is located adjacent 

to the development site adjoining the existing built form on the southern edge of St 

Bees;  

- The Site is located in close and convenient proximity to the services and employment 

opportunities located within St Bees for which the settlement has been designated 

as a Local Centre in Policy ST2 of the Local Plan. The proposed development will 

support existing services and thus the aspiration of retaining these services; 

- Some sustainable travel options exist within the vicinity, including St Bees Train 

Station and Hadrain’s Cycleway, as per the provisions of Policy DM22 of the Local 

Plan.  

 

Housing Need  

Policy SS3 of the Local Plan requires housing development to demonstrate how proposals 

will deliver an appropriate mix of housing as set out in the SHMA. 

St Bees falls within the Whitehaven Housing Market Area (HMA) of Copeland Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). 

The SMHA suggest a particular focus on the delivery of three bedroom houses, 

semidetached and detached houses with four or more bedrooms and bungalows and is 

identified as having a high need for new affordable housing.  

The illustrative site layout plan and supporting documentation outlines that the proposed 

dwellings are likely to comprise of market homes. 

The proposed development has the potential to assist in providing a greater balance of 

market housing stock within St Bees; however, does not include provision for affordable 

housing to meet the identified need in accordance with the provisions of Policy SS3 of CS 

and Paragraph 61 of the NPPF. 

 

Settlement Character, Landscape Impact and Visual Impact 

Policy ENV5 states that the Borough’s landscapes will be protected and enhanced by: 

protecting all landscapes from inappropriate change by ensuring that the development does 

not threaten or detract from the distinctive characteristics of that particular area; that 

where the benefits of the development outweigh the potential harm, ensuring that the 

impact of the development on the landscape is minimised through adequate mitigation, 

preferably on-site; and, supporting proposals which enhance the value of the Borough’s 

landscapes.  

Policy DM10 seeks that development responds positively to the character of the site and the 

immediate and wider setting and enhances local distinctiveness including: an appropriate 

size and arrangement of development plots; the appropriate provision, orientation, 

Page 22



  

proportion, scale and massing of buildings; and, careful attention to the design of spaces 

between buildings. 

The application site comprises of undeveloped land that lies to the south of St Bees directly 

adjoining the development site granted outline planning permission by Members of the 

Planning Panel in March 2021. It adjoins the edge of the built up area of St Bees, adjacent to 

a number of existing dwellings. The land contributes positively to the character of St Bees 

with particular regard to the approach to the settlement from the east.  

The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLCGT) identifies the site as being 

within Sub Type 4 ‘Coastal Sandstone’. The Key Characteristics of the land comprise: coastal 

sandstone cliffs, sandstone rolling hills and plateaus, large open fields, prominent hedge 

banks bound pastoral fields, small woodland blocks along valley sides, and exposed coastal 

edge moving to intimate and enclosed farmland inland. 

The Guidelines for development include: strengthen definition between town and country 

by using extensive buffer planting to screen the built up areas and reduce the impact of 

industry, improve visual containment of caravan parks close to the coast with landscape 

works and discourage further large scale developments, such as wind energy, in prominent 

coastal locations, conserve and enhance the traditional farm buildings and features within 

their own setting, and reduce the impact of any new buildings by careful siting and design. 

The site comprises an area of agricultural land located to the south of St Bees. This area of St 

Bees is characterised by detached dwellings fronting onto Nethertown Road. The proposed 

development would comprise an extension of the existing developed form of the settlement  

and the adjoining development site to the south, which would reflect the existing character 

of the area and would extend the linear form of the settlement and previously approved 

extension to the settlement. The development would be considered a further edge of 

settlement extension, however the proposed site does not extend beyond the dwelling 

located at a higher level on Egremont Road, therefore the development can be considered 

to round off this part of the settlement. The development would be viewed against the 

backdrop of these existing properties, and those granted permission within the adjoining 

development site, therefore the impacts are lessened.  

The development is not considered to result in major intrusion into the open countryside, 

and due to the existing landscape features the development is not considered to have 

significant harm on the overall landscape. The sloping nature of the site and the natural dip 

along its southern edge will also help screen the development and also give a defined edge. 

Additional landscaping, which would be detailed within any subsequent reserved matters 

applications, will also help to lessen the impact on the character and appearance of the 

development.  

Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for 

subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application 

demonstrates that the site could be developed in a form that respects the form, density and 

character of the existing developments within the locality. The proposal is therefore 

considered to comply with policies ST1 and ENV5 of the Copeland Local Plan and provision 

of the NPPF. 

Page 23



  

Design and Impact on Residential Amenity 

Within the Copeland Local Plan, Policies ST1, DM10, DM11, and DM12 of the Local Plan, and 

section 12 of the NPPF seek to secure high standards of design for new residential 

properties. These policies seek to create and maintain a reasonable standard of amenity, 

and set out detailed requirements with regard to standard of residential amenity, including 

the provision of parking spaces, separation distances and open space. 

The application includes indicative details of the proposed layout only with details of the 

scale and appearance of the dwellings reserved for subsequent approval at the Reserved 

Matters stage. As submitted the proposed plot layout does reasonably allow for adequate 

separation distances to be achieved between facing elevations of the proposed and existing 

dwellings as required by Policy DM12 of the Local Plan. The indicative layout also shows that 

the proposed dwellings will be set back within the plots, away from the road, to reflect the 

existing built form along Nethertown Road. This will help to mitigate against any impact of 

the development on neighbouring properties. Given the significantly elevated position of 

the existing dwelling to the east of the site on Egremont Road, the proposed development 

at this site is considered to have minimal impact on these properties and their amenity. It is 

also considered that suitable boundary treatments can be secured as part of this permission 

to minimise its potential impact. Details of the boundary treatment would be submitted at 

the reserved matters planning stage. 

Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for 

subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application 

demonstrates that a development layout is deliverable with interface separation distances 

that would not result in harm to the residential amenity of the neighbouring residential 

dwellings through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing and overlooking. The 

requirements of Policy DM12 of the Local Plan are considered achievable. 

 

Flood Risk and the Achievement of Satisfactory Drainage  

Policy ST1B(ii) and paragraph 163 of the NPPF seek to focus development on sites that are 

at least risk of flooding and where development in flood risk is unavoidable, ensure that the 

risk is minimised or mitigated through appropriate design. Policy ENV1 and DM24 of the 

Copeland Local Plan reinforces the focus of protecting development against flood risk.  

Whilst the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 the views of the Council’s Flood 

and Coastal Defence Engineer, the Lead Local Flood Authority and United Utilities have been 

sought as part of the consultation process.   

Although the application is in outline form only, the adjacent development site which was 

granted outline planning permission is now subject to a reserved matters application which 

includes a drainage strategy. It is therefore proposed that if this reserved matters 

application on the adjacent site is approved the drainage strategy will be extended to this 

site. This strategy indicated that all foul water from the development will be drained by a 

new system and discharged into the existing public sewer to the north of the site along 

Nethertown Road. Surface water will be dealt with through a combination of permeable 

Page 24



  

paving and below ground infiltration soakaways. No objections have been received from any 

Statutory Consultees on this matter however it has been indicated that the site should be 

drained on a separate system with foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water 

draining in the most sustainable way. In line with these comments relevant conditions are 

proposed to ensure an adequate drainage system at the site and to ensure a surface water 

drainage scheme is secured based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the NPPF is 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of 

works.  

These conditions will secure proper drainage within the site and will manage the risk of 

flooring and pollution, ensuring that the development complies with Policy ENV1 and Policy 

DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 and the provisions of the NPPF. 

 

Access, Parking and Highway Safety 

Policy T1 of the Core Strategy requires mitigation measures to be secured to address the 

impact of major housing schemes on the Boroughs transportation system. Policy DM22 of 

the Copeland Local Plan requires developments to be accessible to all users and to meet 

adopted car parking standards, which reflect the needs of the Borough in its rural context. 

Although submitted in outline form the application indicates that the development would 

utilise the frontage onto Nethertown Road as an access point, with each plot benefiting 

from parking and turning spaces. The entrance point would also provide access to the 

adjoining site which was granted outline planning permission (ref: 4/20/2491/0O1) for up to 

three dwelling in March 2021 by Members of the Planning Panel.  

Concerns have been raised by local residents and the Parish Council with regard to the 

additional traffic and the impact on highway safety given the narrow width of Nethertown 

Road. Cumbria Highways however have offered no objections to this proposal. The Highway 

Authority note that the proposed development is small in scale which replicates and 

extends the current layout and arrangement of houses on the north side of Nethertown 

Road. It is confirmed that the additional traffic likely to be generated by the proposal will 

not have a material impact on highway conditions. Whilst Nethertown Road has no 

footways however the Highway Authority note that it is only 0.5 miles to the centre of the 

village which is considered a reasonable for walking journeys, it is therefore not considered 

necessary to provide a footway along to frontage of the development as there is no 

connectivity available to the west and a footway would urbanise the location further and 

the increased width and lack of inconsistency of provision could impact on highway 

conditions. Cumbria Highways have raised no objections to the individual access points for 

each proposed dwelling but have commented that a single shared driveway could be 

possible at this site.  

This proposed small development of Two detached dwellings replicates and extends the 

current layout and arrangement of houses on the north side of Nethertown Road. This is a 

low speed and narrow rural road with an 85th %ile speed of 22.5mph with no footway, but 

no recorded accidents in the last 5 years according to our database. 

Page 25



  

Cumbria Highways have requested a number of conditions including the provision of 

adequate visibility splays, surface water discharge into the highway, and the requirement 

for a construction management plan. However, as this is an outline application with all 

matters reserved for future approval issues relating to the proposed access and footways 

cannot be conditioned as part of this application and will be addressed as part of any 

subsequent applications for this site. As concerns have been raised from the Parish Council 

and local residents with regard to drainage issues and the suitability of the highway for 

construction vehicles it is deemed appropriate to include the conditions requested by 

Cumbria Highways requiring a Construction Management Plan and details of measures to 

prevent surface water discharging onto the highway.  

Overall, it is considered that the submitted details comply with Policies T1 and DM22 of the 

Copeland Local Plan and will provide an accessible form of development.  

 

Ecology  

Policies ST1, ENV3, and DM25 seeks to ensure that new development will protect and 

enhance biodiversity and geodiversity.  

A Preliminary Ecological Survey has been submitted in support of this planning application 

and provides an assessment of the ecological impacts of the development. The report 

concludes:  

- No internationally designated sites exist within a 2km radius of the site and 

therefore no potential impacts to any internationally designated sites are 

anticipated. 

- No potential impacts to any domestically designated sites are anticipated. 

- Due to the proximity of locally designated sites, it is concluded that the proposed 

development will not impact upon any locally designated site. 

- The risk of bat roosts occurring within the works area is ‘nil’. The site is unlikely to be 

of significance to foraging or commuting bats in the wider area and the risk to bats is 

therefore considered to be ‘nil’. 

- Great crested newts have been confirmed as ‘absent’ from the pond via an eDNA 

test. The risk of great crested newts being affected by the proposed works is 

therefore ‘nil’. 

- The risk of otters, badgers, red squirrels and other mammals being affected by the 

proposed works is considered to be ‘nil’. 

- The risk of reptiles being affected by the proposed works is considered to be ‘nil'. 

- The risk of breeding birds being affected by the proposed works is considered to be 

‘negligible'.  

- The risk of invasive non-native species currently growing on site being spread within 

or beyond the site boundary is currently considered to be ‘nil’. The generic risk of 

invasive non-native species being introduced to the site and then spread within or 

beyond the site boundary is considered to be ‘low’. 

 

Page 26



  

Based on these conclusions the following impacts have been identified:  

- Breeding Birds - Disturbance/destruction of active nest sites and harm to nesting 

birds. 

- ‘Other Mammals’ - Harm to burrow dwelling mammals  

- Invasive Non-Native Species - Spread of invasive non-native species on/off site.  

 

The following mitigation measures/recommendations are therefore made as part of this 

survey:  

- Vegetation clearance and/or demolition of the western boundary wall to create 

access should occur outside of the bird nesting season. 

- If any vegetation clearance and/or demolition of the western boundary wall must 

occur during the bird breeding season, a breeding bird survey must be conducted 

immediately prior to vegetation clearance commencing. Should evidence of active 

nest sites (or dependant young) be identified, no work will be possible until the nest 

can be confirmed as no longer active or the young have fledged and/or moved out of 

the works area. 

- All plant operatives will be vigilant for mammal burrows. If burrows are discovered, 

no plant will operate within 5m of any burrow entrance until an experienced 

ecologist can confirm if the burrow is active. If burrows are found to be active, 

measures will be taken to exclude mammals before works in the area may proceed. 

- Any plant or equipment used on site during the construction phase must be washed 

so as to remove any mud or debris (which may contain viable vegetative material or 

seeds) before being delivered to the site. 

- All materials delivered to site will be clean and free from contamination with seeds 

or vegetative material from invasive non-native species. 

 

Appropriately worded planning conditions will be attached to any decision notice to ensure 

the development is carried out in accordance with the ecological appraisal and identified 

mitigation measures. 

Whilst concerns have been raised with regard to the submitted information for this 

application and the detrimental impact the development will have upon ecology, Natural 

England have confirmed that they have no objections to this application. 

Subject to the planning conditions set out above the proposal is considered to achieve the 

requirement of Policies ST1, ENV3 and DM25 of the Copeland Local Plan.  

 

Planning Balance 

The application site is located outside of the settlement boundary for St Bees as defined in 

Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan.  

For the reasons outlined, in assessing the proposed development, Paragraph 11 of the NPPF 

is engaged with the policies of the Development Plan which are most important for 

Page 27



  

determining the application are to be considered out of date and it required that planning 

permission be granted unless: 

- the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.  

 

The proposed development is in clear conflict with the provisions of Policy ST2 of the Local 

Plan with regard to the location outside the settlement boundary for St Bees; however, 

given the importance of this policy to the determination of the application and its level of 

conformity with the NPPF, only limited weight can be given to this conflict in decision taking. 

The ECLP continues to identify St Bees as a Local Service Centre reflective of the number and 

type of services it contains and identifies a settlement boundary around the village. The 

ECLP continues to identify the Application Site as outside the revised development 

boundary for St Bees. Whilst the proposed development is in conflict with the emerging 

policies and provisions of the ECLP, as there are outstanding objections to the relevant 

policies applicable to this development, the identified conflict can be given little weight at 

present. 

The development will assist in boosting housing supply within St Bees, is of an appropriate 

scale for the Local Centre, will support the retention of existing services locally, and benefits 

from some limited sustainable travel options in accordance with the spatial objectives of the 

Local Plan. Whilst the development, by virtue of its location, would have some impacts on 

the existing character of the south of the village, the small scale proposal has been designed 

to extend the previously approved small extension to the south of the village and to respect 

the character and built form of this area of the settlement. The development is considered 

an extension to the settlement and adjoining  development site, rounding off this southern 

part of the village, and would be viewed against the existing built form of St Bees, limiting its 

impacts.  

 

Conclusion 

On balance, whist conflicts are identified it is considered that these are collectively not 

sufficiently harmful to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the identified benefits of the 

development, which would include: the provision of housing in a sustainable location, and 

supporting local services when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.  

 

Recommendation 

Approve in Outline subject to the following conditions. 

 

Conditions   

Page 28



  

Standard Conditions 
 

1. The layout, scale, appearance, access and landscaping must be approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason 
 
To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 

by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2. Detailed plans and drawings with respect to the matters reserved for subsequent 
approval must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within three years of the 
date of this permission and the development hereby permitted must be commenced 
not later than the later of the following dates:- 

 

a) The expiration of THREE years from the date of this permission 

Or 

b) The expiration of TWO years from the final approval of the reserved matters 

or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last 

such matter to be approved. 

Reason 

To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and to 

comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

3. This permission relates to the following plans and documents as received on the 
respective dates and development must be carried out in accordance with them:- 
 

- Location Map (Amended), Scale 1:1250, Drawing No: 008, received by the 
Local Planning Authority on the 8th November 2021.  

- Location Plan (Amended), Scale 1:1250, Drawing No: 006, received by the 
Local Planning Authority on the 8th November 2021. 

- Access Appraisal, Prepared by WYG November 2020, received by the Local 
Planning Authority on the 16th August 2021.  

- Preliminary Ecology Appraisal, Prepared by Hesketh Ecology July 2021, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 16th August 2021. 

- Planning Statement, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 16th 
August 2021. 

 
Reason 

Page 29



  

To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

 

Pre-Commencement Conditions: 

4. Before development commences full details of the foul and surface water drainage 

scheme must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority.  The approved scheme must become operational before the development 

is brought into use and must be so maintained thereafter.   

 

Reason 

To ensure the provision of a satisfactory drainage scheme in accordance with the 

provision of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028. 

 

5. Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage scheme, 
based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning Practice 
Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions (inclusive of how the 
scheme shall be managed after completion) must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public 
sewerage system either directly or indirectly. 
 
SUDS and especially surface features such as rain gardens, swales and basins that 
provide amenity and treatment benefits to deal with water 'naturally' shall be 
prioritised in the design. 
 
The development must be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason 
 
To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the 
risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with the provision of Policy ENV1 and 
Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028. 

 

6. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent surface 
water discharging onto or off the highway must be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. Any approved works 

Page 30



  

must be implemented prior to the development being completed and must be 
maintained operational thereafter.  
 
Reason  
 
In the interests of highway safety and environmental management in accordance 
with Policy T1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan.  

 

7. Development must not commence until a Construction Traffic Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning authority. The 
CTMP must include details of:  
 

- Retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading for 
their specific purpose during the development; 

- Cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; 
- Details of proposed wheel washing facilities; 
- The sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or 

deposit of any materials on the highway; 
- pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for 

accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a 
Highway  

 
Reason  

 
To ensure the undertaking of the development does not adversely impact upon the 
fabric or operation of the local highway network and in the interests of highway and 
pedestrian safety in accordance with Policy T1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan. 

 

Other Conditions 
 

8. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. Foul water should be 

draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way.  

 

Reason 

 

To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution in 
accordance with the provision of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local 
Plan 2013 – 2028. 

 

9. This permission gives outline approval for a maximum of two dwellings only at this 

site.  

 

Reason  

Page 31



  

To ensure an appropriate form of development at this site in accordance with the 

provisions of Policy ST1 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 - 2028.   

 

10. The development must implement all of the mitigation and compensation measures 
set out in the approved document ‘Preliminary Ecology Appraisal, Prepared by 
Hesketh Ecology July 2021, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 16th 
August 2021’. The development must be carried out in accordance with the 
approved document at all times thereafter.  
 
Reasons  
 
To protect the ecological interests evident on the site in accordance with Policies 
ST1, ENV3, and DM25 of the Copeland Local Plan. 

 

Statement  

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning 

policies and any representations that may have been received, and subsequently 

determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 32



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

                                                    

        

                                                                               

To: PLANNING PANEL 

 

Date of Meeting: 18/05/2022 

Development Control Section 

  

 

 

Application Number:   4/21/2369/0R1 

Application Type:   Reserved Matter : CBC 

Applicant:     Sunshine Properties West Coast Ltd 

Application Address:  LAND TO THE SOUTH OF SOUTHRIGG, NETHERTOWN 

ROAD, ST BEES 

Proposal APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL OF RESERVED MATTERS 

RELATING TO ACCESS, APPEARANCE, LANDSCAPING, 

LAYOUT AND SCALE FOLLOWING OUTLINE PLANNING 

APPROVAL 4/20/2491/0O1 - RESIDENTIAL 

DEVELOPMENT 

Parish:    St. Bees 

Recommendation Summary:   Approve Reserved Matters 

 

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel 

The application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel due to an objection 

from the Parish Council and due to the significant local interest in the application.  

Members will also benefit from a site visit prior to the determination of the application following a 

request from the Parish Council. 

The Site 

The application site relates to an area of agricultural land which fronts onto Nethertown Road on the 

southern edge of St Bees. The sloping site covers an area of 0.41 hectares, and adjoins the curtilage 

of the existing dwelling known as Southrigg immediately to the north. The site is located adjacent to 

the existing settlement boundary for St Bees and is bound to the north and east by residential 

 

Crown Copyright.  Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 

prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005). 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4b



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

properties, to the south by open countryside and to the west by Nethertown Road. The properties 

located to the east of the application site are set at a higher level than the application site and the 

existing properties on Nethertown Road. 

Relevant Planning History  

4/98/0656/0 – Outline for one residential unit – Refused 

4/01/0841/0 – Outline for one residential unit – Refused  

4/20/2491/0O1 – Outline application for residential development – Approved  

Proposal  

This application seeks the Approval of Reserved Matters for three dwelling on this site, including 

details of access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale. This application follows the approval of 

outline planning permission (ref: 4/20/2491/0O1) in March 2021 by Members of the Planning Panel 

for the residential development of the site with all matters reserved.  

This application seeks permission to development the site for three detached dwellings. These are as 

follows:  

- Plot 1: This proposed dwelling will measure 10.7m x 13.5m, with an eaves height of 5.35m 

and an overall height of 9.4m. The development will benefit from a rear facing gable which 

will project from the property by 2.45m and extend along this elevation by 6m, benefitting 

from an eaves height of 5.35m to match the main dwelling and an overall height of 8.5m. 

Internally the proposed dwelling will incorporate a large entrance hall, a wine cellar, utility 

room, a study, a double bedroom, two double bedrooms with a jack and jill ensuite 

bathroom, a cloak room, and a bathroom within the ground floor. The first floor of the 

development will accommodate an open plan kitchen/dining/living room, a utility room, a 

toilet, a snug, and a large master bedroom with an ensuite bathroom and a dressing room.  

 

- Plot 2: This proposed dwelling will measure 11.1m x 11.9m, with an eaves height of 5.35m 

and an overall height of 8.95m. The development has been designed with two pitched 

roofed gables on the front elevation and will have an eaves height to match the main 

dwelling. One of the gables will extend to a ridge height of 7.8m and the other will be slightly 

lower at 7.3m. This proposed dwelling also benefits from a rear extension measuring 1.9m x 

5.1m with an eaves height of 2.3m and an overall height of 3.7m. Internally the proposed 

dwelling will incorporate a large entrance hall, an open plan kitchen/dining/living room, a 

utility room, a study, a shower room and a double bedroom within the ground floor. The 

first floor of the development will accommodate a lounge, bathroom, three double 

bedrooms, and a master bedroom with an ensuite bathroom and dressing room.  

 

- Plot 3: This proposed dwelling will measure 11.9m x 11.65m, with an eaves height of 5.1m 

and an overall height of 8.5m. This proposed dwelling also benefits from a rear extension 

measuring 6.8m x 4.4m with an eaves height of 2.35m and an overall height of 4m. Internally 

the proposed dwelling will incorporate a large entrance hall, a study, bathroom, a lounge, an 

open plan kitchen/dining/living room, and a utility room. The first floor of the development 

will accommodate a master bedroom with an ensuite bathroom and dressing room, a 

double bedroom with an ensuite bathroom, a bathroom, and three double bedrooms.  

 

Page 34



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Externally each dwelling will be finished with St Bees sandstone to the feature elevations and quoins 

to the corners. This will be combined with render, natural slate roofs and grey coloured windows 

and facias. All windows within the proposed gable elevations will be fitted with obscure glazing.  

 

Each dwelling will benefit from a front garden set back behind the shared access road, private rear 

gardens, and a driveway around the side of the dwellings to rear parking spaces and a detached 

garage. The proposed garages will measure 8.7m x 6m with an eaves height of 2.3m and an overall 

height of 4.2m. The proposed garages for plots 2 and 3 will provide a double garage, toilet, and a 

gym/summer house. The proposed garage for plot 1 will provide a toilet, sunroom, and a storage 

area. 

 

The development will be accessed from Nethertown Road. The proposed access will be located 

along the western edge of the development and will provide visibility splays of 2.4m 26.8m to the 

north of the site and 2.4m x 26.3m to the south. The access will also form a passing place for the 

existing road. Access to each plot will be from a shared private road which will be surfaced with 

tarmac which will lead to separate driveways finished with block paving. The site will also 

accommodate two visitor car parking spaces to the front of the site.  

The frontage of the site onto Nethertown Road is currently bound by a stone wall. As part of this 

development this wall will be rebuilt to 900m in height along the site frontage and around the 

proposed entrance. The boundary treatments to the front of each plot will be low hedgerows, with 

1.8m close boarded fences to the rear. The existing party brick wall between the site and the 

adjacent property, Southrigg, will be retained and faced with timber panels.  

Consultation Responses  

St Bees Parish Council  

22nd September 2021 

The Parish Council has significant concerns about the details plans for the three properties approved 

in outline in March 2021. The applicant is proposed to construct the properties in Grey Lakeland 

Stone. Surrounding properties are constructed in rendered faced block work, facing brick or St Bees 

sandstone. This development should be built in similar materials to be in keeping with neighbouring 

properties.  

The topography of the site has a large undulation towards the centre of the field. This would indicate 

that a large amounts of material will need to be removed or imported to make up the ground. This 

will increase the movement of heavily loaded vehicles between the site and the junction with the 

B5345. This section of road has been the subject to subsidence in the past and we trust Cumbria 

Highways will consider how this can be handled to prevent a further collapse which would result in 

significant inconvenience to other residents.  

Perhaps the main concerns is the issue of drainage. The outline approval included a condition that 

foul water should be discharged into an adopted United Utilities sewer. However, there is no foul 

drainage connection in close proximity to the site. The nearest connection is 80, away at the 

entrance to the cul-de-sac. The proposed drainage system will require extensive excavation along 

Nethertown Road to reach the existing manhole. In addition, the sewer provided by United Utilities 

indicate that the manhole at the entrance to the cul-de-sac has not been adopted by UU. From the 

information provided in the application on the existing and proposed invert levels there is little 

margin and the installation will need to be carefully supervised. The applicant has provided a 

comprehensive drainage strategy report by A L Daines and Partners by this does not underpin the 

Page 35



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

strategy in its entirety. The report is quite clear that further dye testing or CCTV inspections will be 

required prior to any connections being make into the existing system.  

8th March 2022 

Thank you for forwarding this amended application which was considered at some length at the 
Parish Council meeting on 21 February. The Parish Council continues to have significant concerns 
about plans for the three properties which were approved in outline in March 2021. 

The application includes a comprehensive drainage strategy report by A L Daines and Partners but 
this does not conclude definitively that the proposed drainage system will be adequate. The report 
is quite clear that further dye testing or CCTV inspections will be required prior to any connections 
being made into the existing system. The Parish Council would wish to see these tests completed 
before development goes ahead. There seems to be an anomaly in the report in that it states that it 
is based upon an assumption that the remainder of the site will remain in its current state (ie 
grassland) but we are aware that a further outline application has already been submitted by the 
same applicant for further development on the site (Ref 4/21/2368/001). The report should be 
updated to take into account the situation if further development were to be approved for this site. 

The Parish Council is also concerned about the flood risk and how the drainage system will deal with 
this. Over recent months there has been flooding on this site, creating a deep pool some 20m x 40m 
which has taken many days to drain away. It is evident that water is draining onto the development 
site from Egremont Road. The frequency of heavy and prolonged rain is increasing as the climate 
changes so this can no longer be regarded as a rare or occasional event. This would pose a flood risk 
not only to the new properties but it would also add to the flood risk for other nearby properties on 
Nethertown Road and Sea Mill Lane. 

Highway safety remains the Parish Council's main concern. Nethertown Road is very narrow at this 
point and is only 2.5m wide with no pavements. The road is popular with dog walkers and cyclists as 
it leads into open countryside and gives access to the newly opened England Coastal Path. The 
Design & Access statement states that the access to the site will provide space for two vehicles to 
pass but the plans show little detail of what is proposed. We have been told by CBC Waste 
Management staff that a refuse vehicle is 2.55m wide and requires a turning circle of 16.9m and we 
know that a fire appliance is 2.5m wide. It is unclear how such large vehicles will be able to reach 
the site safely and how lorries and large vehicles will be able to turn, The next road junction which 
provides an opportunity to turn is more than a mile to the south. There will inevitably be a 
temptation for drivers of large vehicles to attempt to reverse back along Nethertown Road to try to 
turn in the small residential cul de sac. This would pose a significant risk to pedestrians and cyclists 
using this road. The Parish Council believes that the plans should provide for sufficient space to allow 
large vehicles to turn within the public highway. 

Access to the site during the construction phase is also a concern. The topography of the site has a 
large undulation towards the centre of the field. This would indicate that a large amount of material 
will need to be removed or imported to make up the ground. This will increase the movement of 
heavily loaded vehicles between the site and the junction with the B5345. This section of road has 
been the subject of subsidence in the past and consideration needs to be given to how this can be 
handled to prevent a further collapse which would result in significant inconvenience to other 
residents. The 85345 through the centre of the village is narrow and lined with parked cars. It is not 
suitable to cope with construction traffic and careful thought needs to be given to how heavily laden 
vehicles will be able to access the site. 

Page 36



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

25th March 2022 

Thank you for allowing us the opportunity to comment on the response from the applicant to our 

letter of 8 March. 

Drainage 

The Parish Council agrees that a condition should be in place to ensure that the applicant's 

drainage proposals will be appropriate before the commencement of works on site. This should 

include details of how the drainage system will be installed, which regulatory bodies will approve 

the plans, and how the traffic disruptions and any road closures will be managed. The Parish 

Council would wish to see all foul drainage work off site to the first manhole to be installed and 

approved before work commences on site. 

As the applicant states, the drainage report is specific to this application but it is clearly based on 

the premise that the remainder of the site will remain in its current state (ie grassland). We know 

that a further application has already been made for outline permission for further dwellings on the 

site, so further development is more than a theoretical possibility. The remainder of the site is 

subject to extensive flooding and further development would change the dynamics of water disposal 

on which this report is based. The drainage report should take into account the impact of possible 

further development on the site. 

The applicant's comments specific to climate change are noted. However, given the extensive 

ground water flooding which occurs on a regular basis on other sections of the field, our concerns 

about flood risk remain. 

Highways 

We welcome the applicant's proposal of a traffic management plan to deal with the issues which 

would arise during the construction process. This would help to address the concerns of local 

residents about heavy vehicles travelling to/from the site. However, there are no details of what 

plan is proposed nor who will monitor compliance with the plan. 

Highway safety remains the Parish Council's main concern. Nethertown Road is very narrow at this 

point and is only 2.5m wide with no pavements. The road is popular with walkers and cyclists, as it 

leads into open countryside and gives access to the newly opened England Coastal Path. The Parish 

Council would like to see some widening of the road along the frontage of the site by perhaps 

0.75m to ensure that the impact on pedestrians and cyclists is kept to a minimum. 

The applicant states that a wide access will be created with turning space for vehicles. However, it is 

impossible to gauge the adequacy of what is proposed from the drawings provided. The Parish 

Council remains concerned about whether large vehicles such as refuse lorries with a turning circle 

of 16.9m will be able to turn. 

14th April 2022 

Thank you for allowing us the opportunity to comment on the amended details for this application.  

 

Page 37



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

We have reviewed the amended information but this does not address the concerns which we 

expressed in our letter of 25 March. Our concerns about drainage and highways issues remain 

unchanged. 

 

We note that the calculations in the drainage report have been revised but the report makes clear 

that they are still based on the assumption that the rest of the site will remain undeveloped. If there 

is further development on the site, this would invalidate the calculations. We know that there is 

already a further outline application for this site awaiting a decision so the Parish Council's view is 

that the drainage report should take into account the impact of any further development. 

 

Cumbria County Council – Cumbria Highways & LLFA  

 

14th September 2021 

Local Highway Authority (LHA) response : 

- Your authority should consider the visibility splays within the development as presented 

there are issues were visibility could be compromised when exiting driveways due to 

location of walls and hedges, you should ensure that walls and hedgerows are set to an 

appropriate height". 

- Although the access road is to be private we would expect a 6m width for each parking bay, 

as on the presented drawing the parking and reversing maybe impractical.  

 

Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) response: 

- Lead Local Flood Authority welcome the proposed surface water soakaway system, the 

calculations submitted shows the site will drain fine through infiltration. Soakaways can be a 

great solution to surface water drainage if maintained correctly but if not maintained can 

cause problems in the future, with this in mind can a plan showing exceedance routes from 

the development be submitted incase soakaways fail. 

 

4th March 2022 

 

Thank you for your email stating that the agent for application 4/21/2369/0R1 is seeking approval of 

conditions 3, 4 and 5 set out in the outline planning approval 4/20/2491/0O1. 

 

New information submitted in February 2022 shows the site to have changed in appearance, road 

layout and parking areas, unfortunately a new drainage plan to accommodate these changes has not 

been received. Without this updated plan I cannot approve conditions 3,4 and 5 of application 

4/20/2491/0O1. 

 

Page 38



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Our previous response dated 15/09/21 also requested exceedance routes to be included within the 

drainage plan should the soakaways become blocked. This information is still required. 

 

25th April 2022 

Cumbria County Council as the Local Highway Authority (LHA) and Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 

has reviewed the above planning reference including pre commencement conditions numbers 3 and 

4 and other condition number 5 which have been included within this proposal our findings are 

detailed below. 

 

I can confirm that we have no objections to the proposal, subject to the inclusion of conditions 

relating to a construction traffic management plan, visibility splays, and existing highway boundary 

reduction on any decision notice for this application.  

 

United Utilities  

13th September 2021 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning 

Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system with foul water draining 

to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable way. 

 

The NPPG clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the developer when considering a 

surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the developer to consider the following drainage 

options in the following order of priority: 

 

1. into the ground (infiltration); 

2. to a surface water body; 

3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; 

4. to a combined sewer. 

Following our review of the submitted Proposed Drainage Plan, ref: 21-C-16279/01 revision A, dated 

17/08/2021 proposing surface water discharging into the soakaways, we can confirm the proposals 

are acceptable in principle to United Utilities. However, we do not have sufficient information on the 

detail of the drainage design. With this in mind, we request the inclusion of conditions relating to 

surface water drainage and foul water be attached to any subsequent Decision Notice.  

 

1st March 2022 

 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning 

Practice Guidance (NPPG), the surface water should drain in the most sustainable way. 

Page 39



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 

Further to our review of the submitted documents, Drawing 21-C-16279/01, Rev A, Dated 

17/08/21, we can confirm the proposals are acceptable in principle. We would have no objection to 

the conditions relating to drainage being discharged following a discharge of conditions application. 

 

United Utilities will request evidence that the drainage hierarchy has been fully investigated and why 

more sustainable options are not achievable before a surface water connection to the public sewer 

is acceptable. 

 

10th March 2022 

 

Our response confirmed we would be happy for the drainage conditions to be discharged under a 

discharge of conditions application, if you intend to discharge conditions under a reserved matters 

application this sounds like outside of the norm and would be your decision to make.  

But ultimately, we are happy with the drainage proposals, as per our response.  

28th April 2022 

 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning 

Practice Guidance (NPPG), the surface water should drain in the most sustainable way.  

 

Further to our review of the submitted documents, Drawing 21-C-16279/01, Rev B, Dated 31/03/22, 

we can confirm the proposals are acceptable in principle. We would have no objection to the 

conditions relating to drainage being discharged following a discharge of conditions application. 

 

Copeland Borough Council – Flood and Coastal Defence Engineer 

 

13th September 2021 

 

Having looked through the submissions, I have no concerns about the proposed development. 

1st March 2022 

 

In relation to the Additional and Amended Information submitted for the above Application, it 

appears that none of this relates to drainage. 

As, such I have no comments to add at this stage. 

Page 40



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

1st March 2022 

 

With regards to Discharge of Conditions of Planning Permission 4/20/2491/0O1, as part of above, 

please see comments below. 

Condition 3: 

A plan showing the foul and surface water drainage scheme has been submitted. 

This shows the routing of the foul system, which includes the extension of existing public sewer and 

information of pipes, manholes, etc. of this section. 

The routing of the private site foul system is also shown, but not with detail of pipes or manholes. 

The routing of the private surface water system and location of soakaways and sumps serving the 

permeable paving is show. 

Details of the permeable paving is also provided. 

Condition 4: 

The surface water drainage scheme has followed the hierarchy of drainage options set out in NPPG. 

A number of SUDS options were assessed, with soakaways and permeable paving being identified as 

suitable for the site and incorporated into the development. 

Operation and maintenance of both soakaways and permeable paving has been provided. 

Condition 5: 

Foul and surface water are drained on separate systems. 

Foul sewage is to be drained to the public sewer. 

Surface water is drained to soakaways. 

6th April 2022 

 

With regards to the additional and amended information provided with regards to the above 

application, I have no further comments to make. 

Public Representation 

This application has been advertised by way of a site notice, press notice, and neighbour notification 

letters issued to thirty-seven properties.  

Eight letters of objection were received in relation to this application which raise the following 

comments:  

- Ugly and hard design which is more fitting to a brownfield site rather than a greenfield site.  

- Not sympathetic to a village of such historical stature of St Bees. 

- Materials and large windows not in keeping.  

- Modern executive style houses not in keeping with the local aesthetic.   

- The development could not be less in keeping with the surrounding woodlands and open 

fields, there is hardly any green left. 

Page 41



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

- Not sympathetic to landscape.  

- They subtract from the ethos of a village, signalling of yet an other Legoland sprawl eroding 

the sense of community St Bees has.   

- Little or no measures that are friendly to the environment.  

- Carbon footprint of the development is large and detrimental to the environment,  

- Drainage of sewage will be difficult to achieve.  

- Drainage infrastructure no adequate.  

- Proposed sewage connection looks to impact the access arrangements to several local 

properties. Concerns for access of residents, emergency services and agricultural vehicles.  

- No consideration has been given to the vulnerable state of Nethertown Road between the 

proposed development and the main village road.  

- There is history of slippage on this riad. 

- The road is not fit for the purpose of carrying lorries with heavy loads.  

- Road too narrow and already struggle with increase in traffic.  

- Increase in traffic.  

- Additional hazards of pedestrians and other road users. 

- No pavements.   

- Poor access visibility.  

- Travel plan carried out during Covid so not a normal representation.  

- Increase in noise and light pollution impairing the beauty of the stars.  

- Disruption of quality of life of existing residents.  

- Existing woodland to rear of site not mentioned. The development will block access to the 

woodland and will disturb habitats for wildlife.  

- No assessment has been made on the effects on wildlife.  

- The development site together with the steep bank to the east is a unique glacial feature 

which has been undisturbed since the last ice age. It has been recognised as unique 

landscape with scientific value.  

- Deep Gyhll Bank is located to the rear of the site and is designated as an area of great 

landscape and scientific value. The environmental survey does not acknowledge the 

surrounding landscape value of this site and adjacent woodland.  

- Wildlife in this woodland has also been ignored.  

- Deep Ghyll Banks was previously known as Deepkiln Banks, this suggests that there was 

some historical industrial activity  so if the application is approved it should be subject to an 

appropriate preliminary archaeology survey.  

One letters of support has been received in relation to this application which raise the following 

comments: 

- Having previously built my own home in St Bees in 2014 I fully endorse this planning 

application.  

- The village needs more developments like this to enhance the property portfolio of St Bees.  

Further to the submission of amended plans all neighbours, objectors and supporter of the 

application were reconsulted on this application.  

Two letters of objection were received in relation to this application which raise the following 

comments:  

- Whilst it is nice to see that the updated design is a lot more in keeping with the village. The 

updated plans do not address the increase in traffic that the development will bring to the 

narrow road. 

Page 42



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

- This is a narrow road without pavements and is only safe if all users conduct themselves 

with a degree of care and caution.  

- As the site is on a stretch of more open road leaving St Bees there is a risk that drivers might 

think to accelerate which would be dangerous.  

- I welcome that a traffic management scheme is proposed but this will need to be 

implemented and enforced. If the application is approved suitable condition or a S106 

agreement should be in place to ensure this can happen.  

- If the road could be widened along the front of the site this would significant mitigate the 

risks. This would be inexpensive and would not cost a lot of money.  

- Concerns regarding how construction traffic will reach the application site and turn given the 

road narrowness. Guidance on this should be in the transport plan or in conditions.  

- Access for large vehicles is already an issue and should be addressed by this application. If 

not it should not be made worse by this application.  

- Concerns that the driveway of plot 3 leads to an empty field which is the first step to a much 

larder development.  

- There is significant flooding and drainage issues in the area of the application site.  

- Concerned with potential effects of both existing flooding and drainage issues on the 

proposed development and that care is taken to make space for water and ensure that the 

development does not add to flood and drainage in the area.  

- It would be unfortunate if these issues were not carefully considered as part of this 

application.  

- There are discrepancies between the previous approved plans and details and this current 

application.  

One letters of support has been received in relation to this application which raise the following 

comments: 

- I am interested in building a self-build property and this seems the ideal location.  

- Would love the opportunity to build a home in this area.  

Planning Policy  

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance 

with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Development Plan  

Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Adopted December 2013)  

Core Strategy  

Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles 

Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy 

Policy SS1 – Improving the Housing Offer 

Policy SS2 – Sustainable Housing Growth  

Policy SS3 – Housing Needs, Mix and Affordability  

Policy T1 – Improving Accessibility and Transport 

Policy ENV1 – Flood Risk and Risk Management  

Policy ENV3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

Page 43



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Policy ENV5 – Protecting and Enhancing the Borough’s Landscapes 

Development Management Policies (DMP)  

Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place  

Policy DM11 – Sustainable Development Standards 

Policy DM12 – Standards of New Residential Developments 

Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments 

Policy DM24 – Development Proposal and Flood Risk 

Policy DM25 – Protecting Nature Conservation Sites, Habitats and Species 

Policy DM26 – Landscaping 

Copeland Local Plan 2001-2016 (LP): 

Saved Policy TSP8 - Parking Requirements 

Proposals Map including settlement boundaries. 

Other Material Planning Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2021)  

National Design Guide (NDG). 

Cumbria Development Design Guide (CDG)  

Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2021 (SHMA) 

Copeland Borough Council Housing Strategy 2018 – 2023 (CBCHS) 

The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLGC) 

Copeland Borough-Wide Housing Needs Survey (2020) 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (CHSR). 

Emerging Copeland Local Plan (ELP):  

The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has recently been the subject of a Publication Draft 

Consultation. The Publication Draft Consultation builds upon the previously completed Issues and 

Options and Preferred Options consultations. Given the stage of preparation of the Copeland Local 

Plan 2017-2035 some weight can be attached to policies within the Publication Draft where no 

objections have been received. The Publication Draft provides an indication of the direction of travel 

of the emerging planning policies, which themselves have been developed in accordance with the 

provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

Strategic Policy DS1PU: Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development  

Strategic Policy DS2PU: Reducing the impacts of development on Climate Change  

Strategic Policy DS3PU: Settlement Hierarchy  

Strategic Policy DS4PU: Settlement Boundaries 

Strategic Policy DS5PU: Planning Obligations  

Page 44



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Policy DS6PU: Design and Development Standards  

Policy DS7PU: Hard and Soft Landscaping  

Strategic Policy DS8PU: Reducing Flood Risk Policy DS9PU: Sustainable Drainage 

Strategic Policy H1PU: Improving the Housing Offer  

Strategic Policy H2PU: Housing Requirement  

Strategic Policy H3PU: Housing delivery  

Strategic Policy H4PU: Distribution of Housing  

Strategic Policy H5PU: Housing Allocations  

Policy H6PU: New Housing Development  

Policy H7PU: Housing Density and Mix Strategic  

Policy H8PU: Affordable Housing 

Strategic Policy N1PU: Conserving and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

Strategic Policy N2PU: Local Nature Recovery Networks  

Strategic Policy N3PU: Biodiversity Net Gain 

Strategic Policy N6PU: Landscape Protection 

Assessment  

The primary issues relevant to the determination of this application are:  

- The principle of the development;  

- Housing need; 

- Scale, design & impact of development on residential amenity; 

- Settlement character, landscape impact and visual impact; 

- Flood risk and the achievement of satisfactory drainage;  

- Access & highway safety; 

- Ecology.  

Principle of Development  

The principle of new housing is supported in the Copeland Local Plan through strategic policies ST1 

and ST2 along with policies SS1, SS2 and SS3. These policies seek to promote sustainable 

development to meet the needs and aspirations of the Boroughs housing market, as well as having 

consideration for the requirements of smaller settlements within the Borough, which respect their 

scale and function.  

The principle for developing the wider site for up to three residential dwellings was established in 

March 2021 when outline planning permission was granted by Members of the Planning Panel. This 

decision was made in the context that the Council’s settlement boundaries are considered out for 

date as required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF. 

This application seeks approval of access, scale, layout, appearance and landscaping.  

Housing Need  

Policy SS3 of the Local Plan requires housing development to demonstrate how proposals will deliver 

an appropriate mix of housing as set out in the SHMA. 

Page 45



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

St Bees falls within the Whitehaven Housing Market Area (HMA) of Copeland Strategic Housing 

Market Assessment (SHMA). 

The SMHA suggest a particular focus on the delivery of three bedroom houses, semidetached and 

detached houses with four or more bedrooms, and bungalows, and is identified as having a high 

need for new affordable housing.  

This application seeks permission for three large modern detached dwellings, all benefitting from 

four bedrooms. The proposed development is for market dwellings with no requirements for 

affordable dwellings at this site due to the scale of the application. On this basis the proposed 

development is considered to help contribute towards a greater balance of market housing stock in 

St Bees, which meets the requirements of the SHMA in accordance with the provision of Policy SS3 

of the CS and Paragraph 61 of the NPPF. 

Scale, Design & Impact of Development on Residential Amenity 

Within the Copeland Local Plan, Policies ST1, DM10, DM11, and DM12 of the Local Plan, and section 

12 of the NPPF seek to secure high standards of design for new residential properties. These policies 

seek to create and maintain a reasonable standard of amenity, and set out detailed requirements 

with regard to standard of residential amenity, including the provision of parking spaces, separation 

distances and open space. 

Extensive discussions have been undertaken with the agent for this application in relation to the 

proposed scale and appearance of the development. Whist the overall layout of the proposed 

development meets the required separation distances set out in Policy DM12 with adjacent 

residential properties and was consistent with the general built form of the area, concerns were 

raised with the agent regarding the design of the development.  

The development is set back from Nethertown Road to allow a shared access drive serving all three 

proposed dwellings which create the site frontage. Originally, the development comprised of a mix 

of dwelling styles with a mix of gables and roof slopes fronting the highway. Concerns were raised 

that the development failed to reflect the character of the overall area and failed to create a 

harmonious development between the proposed dwellings. Based on these concerns the proposed 

house type were amended to ensure the main roof slope of each dwelling faces onto Nethertown 

Road, and although gables are utilised these have been significantly reduced in number and scale to 

ensure the development reflects the character of the existing dwellings. Whilst the development will 

be modern in appearance and will utilise large openings, the solid void relationship within the 

development has been altered, and the proposed materials have been amended to reflect those 

traditionally used within the locality. Chimneys have also been added to each dwelling and the 

properties have been set further back within the development site to reflect the build line of the 

existing built from of the area. The existing stone wall to the front of the application site is also to be 

retained, although reduced in height, ensuring that the existing traditional boundary which 

contributes to the character of the area is maintained as part of this development. This retention will 

also be secured by an appropriately worded planning condition.  

 

Concerns were also originally raised with regard to the impact of the development upon the directly 

adjoining dwelling, Southrigg, in particular the proximity of the dwelling to the access drive for plot 

1. The agent for this application has confirmed that the existing site constraints, mainly the presence 

of a 11kV HV cable along the north of the development site, has dictated the layout of the 

development meaning this area can only be used to serve a driveway for the development. Whilst 

Page 46



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

this brings vehicle movements closer to Southrigg, additional boundary treatment is proposed along 

the northern boundary of the site which will be mitigate this impact. The existing dwelling is also set 

back from this boundary with the application site with a large attached garage being located nearest 

the adjacent site, again limiting the impacts of the development upon this property. The proposed 

boundary treatment will also be secured by an appropriately worded planning condition.  

 

On the basis of the amended detail for this application and the proposed conditions, it is considered 

that the development would be in accordance with the aims and objectives of both the adopted 

Copeland Local Plan and the NPPF. 

 

Settlement Character, Landscape Impact and Visual Impact 

Policy ENV5 states that the Borough’s landscapes will be protected and enhanced by: protecting all 

landscapes from inappropriate change by ensuring that the development does not threaten or 

detract from the distinctive characteristics of that particular area; that where the benefits of the 

development outweigh the potential harm, ensuring that the impact of the development on the 

landscape is minimised through adequate mitigation, preferably on-site; and, supporting proposals 

which enhance the value of the Borough’s landscapes.  

Policy DM10 seeks that development responds positively to the character of the site and the 

immediate and wider setting and enhances local distinctiveness including: an appropriate size and 

arrangement of development plots; the appropriate provision, orientation, proportion, scale and 

massing of buildings; and, careful attention to the design of spaces between buildings. 

The application site comprises of undeveloped land that lies on the edge of the built up area of St 

Bees, adjacent to a number of existing dwellings. The land contributes positively to the character of 

St Bees with particular regard to the approach to the settlement from the east.  

The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLCGT) identifies the site as being within 

Sub Type 4 ‘Coastal Sandstone’. The Key Characteristics of the land comprise: coastal sandstone 

cliffs, sandstone rolling hills and plateaus, large open fields, prominent hedge banks bound pastoral 

fields, small woodland blocks along valley sides, and exposed coastal edge moving to intimate and 

enclosed farmland inland. 

The Guidelines for development include: strengthen definition between town and country by using 

extensive buffer planting to screen the built up areas and reduce the impact of industry, improve 

visual containment of caravan parks close to the coast with landscape works and discourage further 

large scale developments, such as wind energy, in prominent coastal locations, conserve and 

enhance the traditional farm buildings and features within their own setting, and reduce the impact 

of any new buildings by careful siting and design. 

The site comprises an area of agricultural land located to the south of St Bees, directly adjoining the 

existing settlement boundary and adjacent to a number of existing residential dwellings. This area of 

St Bees is characterised by detached dwellings fronting onto Nethertown Road. The proposed 

development would comprise an extension of the existing developed form of the settlement to the 

south, which would reflect the existing character of the area and would extend the linear form of the 

settlement. The development would be considered a small edge of settlement extension, however 

the proposed site does not extend beyond the dwelling located at a higher level on Egremont Road, 

therefore the development can be considered to round off this part of the settlement. The 

Page 47



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

application is supported by sectional drawings which show that the development would sit within 

the context of the existing settlement and would be viewed against the backdrop of these existing 

properties, therefore the impacts are considered to be lessened.  

 

The application is also supported by a landscaping scheme. This plan shows that the existing stone 

wall to the front of the application site is to be retained, although reduced in height, ensuring that 

the existing traditional boundary which contributes to the character of the area is maintained as part 

of this development. Whilst timber boarded fences will be utilised between properties and to the 

rear gardens of the site the front of the site will benefit from post and rail fencing and hedge 

boundary treatment which will ensure the development retains a rural feel and will reflect the 

boundary treatments used within the surrounding area. The proposed boundary treatment will be 

secured by an appropriately worded planning condition.  

 

The development is therefore not considered to result in major intrusion into the open countryside, 

and landscape features the development is not considered to have significant harm on the overall 

landscape. The sloping nature of the site and the natural dip along its southern edge will also help 

screen the development and also give a defined edge. 

The proposal is therefore considered to comply with policies ST1, ENV5 and DM26 of the Copeland 

Local Plan and provision of the NPPF. 

 

Flood Risk and the Achievement of Satisfactory Drainage  

Policy ST1B(ii) and paragraph 163 of the NPPF seek to focus development on sites that are at least 

risk of flooding and where development in flood risk is unavoidable, ensure that the risk is minimised 

or mitigated through appropriate design. Policy ENV1 and DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 

reinforces the focus of protecting development against flood risk.  

The application site is located within Flood Zone 1, however the Council’s Flood and Coastal Defence 

Engineer, Lead Local Flood Authority and United Utilities have been consulted upon this application.  

As part of the outline application conditions were placed upon the decision notice to ensure that full 

details of foul and surface water drainage are submitted to the Local Planning Authority. The agent 

has confirmed that they wish to deal with these conditions as part of this reserved matters 

application, therefore a drainage plan and strategy has been submitted to support this application. 

Following initial concerns from statutory consultees the drainage strategy has been updated to show 

exceedance routes from the development.  

This amended strategy for the development therefore indicates that surface water discharge from 

the development will be dealt with by a combination of permeable paving and below ground 

infiltration soakaways. This will ensure that drainage will be achieved as close to the source as 

possible, therefore limiting any change to on-site flow paths and that there is no increase risk of 

flooding beyond the site boundaries. In line with the drainage hierarchy the proposed surface water 

drainage system has been designed to utilise infiltration based SuDs components. In this case the 

infiltration rates of the ground will allow for the storage systems to be sized to store the full 1:100 

year event without any overland flow or above ground storage.  

Page 48



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

The amended drainage strategy also indicated that all foul water from the plots will be positively 

drained by a new system and is proposed to discharge into the existing public sewer to the north of 

the site along Nethertown Road. It is proposed to connect into the existing identified foul sewer and 

form a new adopted foul drainage pope running up Nethertown Road to the proposed development 

site. The strategy states that further dye testing or CCTV inspections will be required prior to 

construction in accordance with UU policies.  

No objections have been received from any statutory consultees on this proposal, therefore the 

submitted drainage scheme will be secured by an appropriately worded planning condition as part of 

any approval at this site.  

 

Concerns have however been raised by the Parish Council in relation to this proposed drainage 

strategy, with particular regard to the requirement for additional investigation for the proposed foul 

drainage. The agent for the application has confirmed that this recommended dye testing/cctv is 

relevant to the proposed foul drainage and the existing foul sewer as there is no United Utilities map 

record of one in close proximity to the site, however the UU rep for Copeland has confirmed that 

there is one, and physically one is already in place on the ground. The recommended dye testing is 

therefore required only to confirm where this joins to the mapped assets. The agent has agreed that 

it would be suitable to condition this requirement prior to the commencement of works to 

overcome the Parish Council’s concerns. The inclusion of this condition will ensure that the 

development can be carried out in accordance with the submitted drainage strategy.  

 

Concerns have also been raised from the Parish Council as the submitted drainage strategy only 

relates to the proposed three properties and states that the adjacent site is to remain greenfield 

land ignoring the outline application currently submitted for this site (ref: 4/21/2368/0O1). This 

outline application on the adjacent site is currently ongoing and has yet to be determined. The agent 

however has confirmed that should this application be approved the extended to include the 

adjacent site.  

 

On the basis of the above the drainage conditions attached to the previous outline permission are 

considered to be discharged. The proposed drainage strategy for this application will be conditioned 

to secure proper drainage within the site to manage the risk of flooding and pollution, ensuring that 

the development complies with Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 

2028 and the provisions of the NPPF. 

 

Access & Highways Safety  

 

Policy T1 of the Core Strategy requires mitigation measures to be secured to address the impact of 

major housing schemes on the Boroughs transportation system. Policy DM22 of the Copeland Local 

Plan requires developments to be accessible to all users and to meet adopted car parking standards, 

which reflect the needs of the Borough in its rural context. 

The development for three dwellings will be accessed from Nethertown Road. The proposed access 

will be located along the western edge of the development and will provide visibility splays of 2.4m 

Page 49



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

26.8m to the north of the site and 2.4m x 26.3m to the south. The access will also form a passing 

place for the existing road. Access to each plot will be from a shared private road which will be 

surfaced with tarmac which will lead to separate driveways finished with block paving. The site will 

also accommodate two visitor car parking spaces to the front of the site.  

 

Although concerns have been raised by residents and the Parish Council, Cumbria Highways have 

offered no objection to the proposal subject to the inclusion of conditions relating to the 

requirement for the submission of a construction traffic management plan, creation of visibility 

splays, and the reduction in the existing highway boundary wall. The inclusion of appropriately 

worded planning conditions to secure these details will overcome concerns relating to the safety of 

the proposed access as adequate visibility splays can be secured and retained, and the submission of 

the CTMP will address concern of heavy/large vehicles accessing and using Nethertown Road.  

 

On the basis of the amended detail for this application and the inclusion of these proposed 

conditions, it is considered that the development would be in accordance with the aims and 

objectives of both the adopted Copeland Local Plan and the NPPF. 

 

Ecology  

 

Policies ST1, ENV3, and DM25 seeks to ensure that new development will protect and enhance 

biodiversity and geodiversity.  

 

Although an Ecology Survey was not required as part of the original outline application for this site 

following concerns received from residents following this approval a Preliminary Ecological Survey 

has been submitted in support of this planning application which provides an assessment of the 

ecological impacts of the development. The report concludes:  

 

- No internationally designated sites exist within a 2km radius of the site and therefore no 

potential impacts to any internationally designated sites are anticipated. 

- No potential impacts to any domestically designated sites are anticipated. 

- Due to the proximity of locally designated sites, it is concluded that the proposed 

development will not impact upon any locally designated site. 

- The risk of bat roosts occurring within the works area is ‘nil’. The site is unlikely to be of 

significance to foraging or commuting bats in the wider area and the risk to bats is therefore 

considered to be ‘nil’. 

- Great crested newts have been confirmed as ‘absent’ from the pond via an eDNA test. The 

risk of great crested newts being affected by the proposed works is therefore ‘nil’. 

- The risk of otters, badgers, red squirrels and other mammals being affected by the proposed 

works is considered to be ‘nil’. 

- The risk of reptiles being affected by the proposed works is considered to be ‘nil'. 

Page 50



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

- The risk of breeding birds being affected by the proposed works is considered to be 

‘negligible'.  

- The risk of invasive non-native species currently growing on site being spread within or 

beyond the site boundary is currently considered to be ‘nil’. The generic risk of invasive non-

native species being introduced to the site and then spread within or beyond the site 

boundary is considered to be ‘low’. 

 

Based on these conclusions the following impacts have been identified:  

 

- Breeding Birds - Disturbance/destruction of active nest sites and harm to nesting birds. 

- ‘Other Mammals’ - Harm to burrow dwelling mammals  

- Invasive Non-Native Species - Spread of invasive non-native species on/off site.  

 

The following mitigation measures/recommendations are therefore made as part of this survey:  

- Vegetation clearance and/or demolition of the western boundary wall to create access 

should occur outside of the bird nesting season. 

- If any vegetation clearance and/or demolition of the western boundary wall must occur 

during the bird breeding season, a breeding bird survey must be conducted immediately 

prior to vegetation clearance commencing. Should evidence of active nest sites (or 

dependant young) be identified, no work will be possible until the nest can be confirmed as 

no longer active or the young have fledged and/or moved out of the works area. 

- All plant operatives will be vigilant for mammal burrows. If burrows are discovered, no plant 

will operate within 5m of any burrow entrance until an experienced ecologist can confirm if 

the burrow is active. If burrows are found to be active, measures will be taken to exclude 

mammals before works in the area may proceed. 

- Any plant or equipment used on site during the construction phase must be washed so as to 

remove any mud or debris (which may contain viable vegetative material or seeds) before 

being delivered to the site. 

- All materials delivered to site will be clean and free from contamination with seeds or 

vegetative material from invasive non-native species. 

 

Appropriately worded planning conditions will be attached to any decision notice to ensure the 

development is carried out in accordance with the ecological appraisal and identified mitigation 

measures. 

Concerns have been raised with regard to the submitted information for this application and the 

detrimental impact the development will have upon ecology. Although Natural England have not 

been directly consulted upon this application they have been consulted on the same report for the 

ongoing outline planning application (ref: 4/21/2368/0O1) on the adjoining site and have confirmed 

that they have no objections to the submitted information.   

Subject to the planning conditions set out above the proposal is considered to achieve the 

requirement of Policies ST1, ENV3 and DM25 of the Copeland Local Plan.  

 

Planning Balance 

Page 51



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 

The application site is located outside of the settlement boundary for St Bees as defined in Policy ST2 

of the Copeland Local Plan. The principle for developing the wider site for up to three residential 

dwellings was established in March 2021 when outline planning permission was granted by 

Members of the Planning Panel. This decision was made in the context that the Council’s settlement 

boundaries are considered out for date as required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF. 

Amendments have been sought to the overall design of the dwelling to ensure the development is 

designed to reduce the impact of the development upon the surrounding area and the scale, layout 

and design is considered acceptable in this location. Whilst the development by virtue of its location 

would have some impacts on the existing character of the south of the village, the small scale 

proposal has been designed to respect the character and built form of this area of the settlement. 

The development is considered an extension to the settlement, rounding off this southern part of 

the village, and would be viewed against the existing built form of St Bees, limiting its impacts. The 

proposed housing mix is consistent with the SHMA and satisfies the requirement of Policy SS3 of the 

Local Plan. 

There have been no objections to the development from any statutory consultees, and details of 

access and landscaping requirements will be secured by condition. The amended drainage strategy 

for this development ensures that conditions attached to the previous outline planning permission 

have been dealt with and it is considered that an adequate drainage system is in place for the 

application site.  

 

Conclusion 

 

On balance, whist conflicts are identified it is considered that these are collectively not significantly 

harmful to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the identified benefits of the development, 

which would include: the provision of housing in a sustainable location, and supporting local services 

when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.  

 

 

Recommendation:- 

Approve reserved matters subject to the following conditions. 

 

 

Conditions   

Standard Conditions 
 

1. The development must be carried out in accordance with the plans submitted and in 

accordance with the conditions attached to the outline planning permission.   

 

Page 52



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Reason 

 

To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and to 

comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

 

 

2. This permission relates to the following plans and documents as received on the 
respective dates and development must be carried out in accordance with them:-  
 

- Site Location Plan, Scale 1:1250, received by the Local Planning Authority on 
the 18th August 2021.  

- Block Plan (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 021, Rev: D, received by the 
Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Site Plan (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 022, Rev: D, received by the 
Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Plot 1 Elevations (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 041, Rev: A, received 
by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 1 Floor Plans (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 023, Rev: F, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 1 Elevations Garage (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 030, 
Rev: C, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 2 Elevations (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 028, Rev: G, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 2 Floor Plans (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 032, Rev: C, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 2 Elevations Garage (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No 031, 
Rev C, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 8th November 2021. 

- Proposed Plot 3 Elevations (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 024, Rev: G, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 3 Floor Plans (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 025, Rev: G, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 3 Elevations Garage (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 032, 
Rev: C, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Surface Finishes Site Plan (Amended), Scale 1:500, Drawing No 038, Rev B, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022.  

- Fencing Types Site Plan (Amended), Scale 1:500, Drawing No 037, Rev B, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 8th November 2021. 

- Section Through Site (Amended), Scale 1:200, Drawing No: 036, Rev: A, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Section Through Plots (Amended), Scale 1:200, Drawing No: 036, received by 
the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

Page 53



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

- Proposed Site Section 02 (Amended), Scale 1:200, Drawing No: 035, Rev: E, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Site Section 03 (Amended), Scale 1:500, Drawing No: 036, Rev: A, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Design and Access Statement (Amended), received by the Local Planning 
Authority on the 8th February 2022.   

- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, Prepared by Hesketh Ecology July 2021, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 7th February 2022.  

- Drainage Strategy Report (Amended), received by the Local Planning 
Authority on the 31st March 2022.  
 

Reason 

To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

 

 

 

Pre Commencement Conditions: 

3. The development hereby approved must not commence until visibility splays 

providing clear visibility as shown on the approved plan ‘Site Plan (Amended), Scale 

1:100, Drawing No: 022, Rev: D, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th 

February 2022’, has been provided. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any 

Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no 

structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected, parked or placed and no 

trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or be permitted to grown within the 

visibility splay which obstruct the visibility splays.  The visibility splays shall be 

constructed before general development of the site commences so that construction 

traffic is safeguarded. 

 

Reason 

 

In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy T1 and DM22 of the 

Copeland Local Plan.  

 

 

 

4. Prior to the commencement of any development at this site, the existing front 
boundary wall along Nethertown Road must be lowered in accordance with the 
approved plans ‘Fencing Types Site Plan (Amended), Scale 1:500, Drawing No 037, 

Page 54



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Rev B, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 8th November 2021’. The 
boundary wall must be retained at this approved height at all times thereafter. 
 

Reason 

 

In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy T1 and DM22 of the 

Copeland Local Plan.  
 

 

 

5. Prior to the commencement of any development at this site, a Construction 

Management Plan must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. This plan must include the following details:  

 

- Pre-construction road condition established by a detailed survey for 

accommodation works within the highways boundary conducted with a 

Highway Authority representative; with all post repairs carried out to the 

satisfaction of the Local Highway Authority at the applicants expense; 

- Details of proposed crossings of the highway verge; 

- Retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading for 

their specific purpose during the development; 

- Cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; 

- Details of proposed wheel washing facilities; 

- The sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or 
deposit of any materials on the highway; 

- Construction vehicle routing; 
- The management of junctions to and crossings of the public highway and 

other public rights of way/footway;  
- Details of any proposed temporary access points (vehicular / pedestrian); 

- Surface water management details during the construction phase 

 

 

The development must be carried out in accordance with the approved details at all 

times thereafter. 

Reason  

To ensure the undertaking of the development does not adversely impact upon the 

fabric or operation of the local highway network and in the interests of highway and 

pedestrian safety in accordance with Policy T1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan.  
 

 

 

Page 55



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

6. Prior to the commencement of any development at this site, the required dye testing 
or CCTV inspections must be carried out as detailed within the approved document 
‘Drainage Strategy Report (Amended), received by the Local Planning Authority on 
the 31st March 2022’. The findings from these investigations must be submitted in 
writing and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
any development at this site.  
 

Reason 

 

To ensure the provision of a satisfactory drainage scheme in accordance with the 

provision of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028. 

 

 

 

Prior to Erection of External Walling Conditions 
 

7. No superstructure must be erected until samples and details of the materials to be 
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby approved 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Development must be completed in accordance with the approved details of materials 
and must be retained for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason 
 
To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the development in the interests of visual 

amenity in accordance with DM10 of the Copeland Local Plan.   
 

 

 

Prior to Occupation Conditions:  
 

8. Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved, the boundary 
treatment and landscaping at this site must be installed in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 

- Fencing Types Site Plan (Amended), Scale 1:500, Drawing No 037, Rev B, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 8th November 2021. 

 
The landscaping scheme must be implemented within the first available planting 

season from the date of this permission. The development must be retained in 

accordance with this approved detail at all times thereafter unless agreed in writing 

with the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of the development should 

Page 56



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

any of the planting be uprooted, destroyed or die, replacement planting must be 

planted at the same place. The replacement planting will be of a size, species and be 

planted at such a time as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason 
 
To enhance the appearance of the development in the interest of visual amenities of 

the area and to ensure a satisfactory landscaping scheme in accordance with Policy 

DM26 and ENV5 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013-2028. 

 

 

 

9. The drainage of the development hereby approved, must be carried out in 

accordance with the following approved documents:  

 

- Drainage Strategy Report (Amended), received by the Local Planning 
Authority on the 31st March 2022.  

 
Prior to occupation of the proposed development, the drainage schemes must be 
completed in accordance with the approved details and retained thereafter for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason 
 
To ensure the provision of a satisfactory drainage scheme in accordance with the 

provision of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028. 
 

 

 

10. The new access and access road hereby approved as detailed on the approved plan 
‘Site Plan (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 022, Rev: D, received by the Local 
Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022’, must be constructed, completed and 
brought into use prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted. The 
access road must remain operational as approved at all times thereafter.  
 

Reason 

 

To ensure that the proposed new access road is constructed within a reasonable 

timescale, in the interests of highway safety (and general amenity) in accordance 

with Policy T1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan.  
 

 

Page 57



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 

11. Prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved the gable 
windows must be fitted with obscure glazing in line with the approved documents:   
 

- Plot 1 Elevations (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 041, Rev: A, received 
by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 1 Floor Plans (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 023, Rev: F, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 2 Elevations (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 028, Rev: G, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 2 Floor Plans (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 032, Rev: C, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 3 Elevations (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 024, Rev: G, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 

- Proposed Plot 3 Floor Plans (Amended), Scale 1:100, Drawing No: 025, Rev: G, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 15th February 2022. 
 

The obscure glazing must be permanently retained at all times thereafter. 
 

Reason 

 

To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining properties in accordance with 

DM10 of the Copeland Local Plan.   
 

 

 

Other Conditions:  

12. The development must implement all of the mitigation and compensation measures 
set out in the approved document ‘Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, Prepared by 
Hesketh Ecology July 2021, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 7th 
February 2022’. The development must be carried out in accordance with the 
approved document at all times thereafter.  
 
Reasons  
 
To protect the ecological interests evident on the site in accordance with Policies 
ST1, ENV3, and DM25 of the Copeland Local Plan. 

 

 

 

Informative(s): 

Page 58



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

2. The development hereby approved must be carried out in accordance with 
conditions 3, 4, 5, and 6 of Outline Planning Approval Ref: 4/20/2491/0O1.  

 

 

 

3. Any works within or near the Highway must be authorised by Cumbria County 
Council and no works shall be permitted or carried out on any part of the Highway 
including footways and verges, until you are in receipt of an appropriate permit 
allowing such works. This also applies to erecting scaffolding or placing traffic 
management or skips on the highway and the creation of vehicle cross-overs from 
the highway to a private driveway. Enquires should be made to Cumbria County 
Councils Street Work’s team - streetworks.west@cumbria.gov.uk. 

 

 

 

 

 

Statement: 

 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application by 

assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning policies and any 

representations that may have been received, and subsequently determining to grant planning 

permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in 

the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

 

 

 

Page 59



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 

Page 60



 

  

                                                    

         

                                                                               

To: PLANNING PANEL 

 

Date of Meeting: 18/05/2022 

Development Management Section 

  

 

 

Application Number:   4/21/2534/0O1 

Application Type:   Outline : CBC 

Applicant:     Mrs T Knutsford 

Application Address:  LAND AT BOWRIE FAULD, WEST OF SMITHY BANKS, 

HOLMROOK 

Proposal OUTLINE RESIDENTIAL APPLICATION FOR 

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT WITH ALL MATTER 

RESERVED EXCEPT FOR ACCESS 

Parish:    Drigg and Carleton 

Recommendation Summary:   Approve in Outline (commence within 3 years) 

Page 61

Agenda Item 4c



 

  

 

Reason for Determination by Planning Panel 

The application is brought for consideration by Members of the Planning Panel due to an 

objection from the Parish Council and also due to the significant local interest in the 

application.  

 

The Site  

This application relates to an area of agricultural land, located on the south-west edge of 

Holmrook. The site covers an area of 1.41 hectares and is bounded to the east by the 

residential properties of Smithy Banks, to the north and west by open countryside and to 

the south by the B5344 which is the main access road to Drigg.  

 

Crown Copyright.  Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her 

Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to 

prosecution or civil proceedings. Copeland Borough Council Licence No. 100019619 (2005). 

Page 62



 

  

Relevant Planning History 

4/18/2297/0O1 – Outline for residential development with full details of access – Approved  

Proposal  

This outline application seeks to establish the principle of developing the site for residential 

purposes. Although all matters relating to plot layout, scale, appearance, and landscaping 

are reserved for subsequent approval the application does include full details of the 

proposed access. Outline planning approval (ref: 4/18/2297/0F1) has previously been 

granted at this site by Members of the Planning Panel for the residential development of the 

site including detail of the proposed access.  

A detailed plan has been submitted with this application to show how access can be 

achieved from the B5344 to the south of the site. Access to the site is to be via a 4.8m wide 

shared surface road with splays of 48.2m x 2.4m to the west and 44.4m x 2.4m to the east. 

These details reflect the access details approved under the previous outline planning 

approval (ref: 4/18/2297/0F1).   

Whilst all matters relating to scale, appearance and layout are reserved for subsequent 

approval, an indicative site plan has been submitted as part of this application which shows 

how the site could be designed to accommodate 11 dwellings, with a mix of detached and 

semi-detached properties proposed. The indicative layout also demonstrates how the site 

could be landscaped, including the introduction of individual trees, woodland blocks and 

hedgerows.   

The application is accompanied by the following information:  

- Location Plan; 

- Indicative Site Plan; 

- Proposed Access Arrangement; 

- Planting Plan for Site Boundaries – Indicative; 

- Plant Specification Schedule;   

- Ecological Appraisal; 

- Access Appraisal;  

- Flood Risk Assessment;  

- Drainage Strategy and Design;  

- Planning Statement;  

- Design and Access Statement.  

 

Consultation Responses  

Drigg & Carelton Parish Council  

13th January 2022 

Thank you for giving us the opportunity and time to comment on this application at a full 

meeting of the Parish Council. The issue was discussed at the 11th January 2022 meeting of 

the Drigg & Carleton Parish Council, and I was asked to provide the following comments. 

Page 63



 

  

The parish council do not support this application as presented. 

Our Drigg & Carleton Parish community’s Community Led Plan supports small residential 

developments of affordable and care focussed housing on selected sites, but there is no 

evidence of support for a development of this size and type at this location, in an open 

countryside field site. 

The council meeting was attended by 10 local residents, and all were opposed to this 

development, and this parish council wishes to add their support to them. The objections 

were based on the detailed local knowledge of the residents around the proposed site and 

were based on the following concerns: 

a) Copeland Local Plan; this site was incorrectly included in the draft Copeland Local 

Plan (CLP), as it had existing outline planning permission; this permission has lapsed, 

which invalidates that reasoning for inclusion. 

b) Settlement boundary; this proposed site sits outside the settlement boundary, as it 

sits between the villages of Holmrook and Drigg, which are identified as separate 

communities (not a cluster) in the current draft of the CLP. It is therefore outside of 

CBC’s own policy. This proposal would introduce development into the narrow green 

space between the distinct settlements, effectively pulling them together, and 

reducing the open countryside between. 

c) Land for sale; the proposed site is currently on the market for sale, which 

demonstrates the applicant has no plans to actually develop the site, and the 

application is speculative. 

d) Surface water drainage; the field area is prone to flooding, which appears to be 

worse than at the time of the previous application on this site, both locally and with 

downstream effects on a series of properties to the West, and there is a concern that 

this development would further worsen the situation.  

e) Foul water drainage; the foul water drainage arrangements around the adjacent 

Smithy Banks are known to be currently at capacity. 

f) Housing need; there is no locally perceived need for the development. Existing 

family and larger homes remain empty and available in the parish.  

g) Gas pipeline; there is a high pressure gas main pipeline serving the gas power station 

at Fellside, Sellafield, installed close to proposed dwellings. 

h) Detrimental to the wildlife; local information is that this field in open countryside is a 

habitat for a variety of wildlife including deer, bats, lapwings and hares. 

 

13th April 2022 

This application is a resubmission of an outline planning application for residential 

development first submitted in 2018. This application lapsed in December 2021 but it is 

incorrectly still shown as being within the settlement boundary on the Copeland Plan. 

The Drigg & Carleton Parish Council do not support this application and believe this land 

should be moved back outside the settlement boundary of the Copeland plan on the 

following grounds: 

Page 64



 

  

- The original planning permission was only possible due to the 2017 housing supply 

failure as the site is a greenfield site that sits outside the current settlement 

boundary 

- There is no longer a housing supply failure in Drigg/Holmrook or in the wider 

Copeland area and this site should be removed from the Copeland Plan. 

- The proposed development drastically reduces the green field space separating Drigg 

and Holmrook leaving only a narrow strip of agricultural land separating the two 

settlements and risking the two villages drifting into one conjoined settlement 

contrary to local planning policy against overdevelopment 

- This development site and surrounding area is known to flood regularly and is 

unsuitable for development 

- There will be an adverse impact on the local area due to increased pressure on local 

services 

- Current traffic levels are already too high and this is likely to increase traffic and 

pollution, contrary to the Copeland Borough Council plan to make Cumbria a carbon 

neutral county as stated in the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership initiative 

 

Cumbria County Council  

Local Education Authority response: 

It has been confirmed that there is no requirement for the developer to make an education 

contribution following this development.  

 

Local Highway Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority response: 

Following the response to the previous application at this site, 4/18/2297/0O1, the LHA and 

LLFA raise no objections to the proposal subject to the inclusion of conditions relating to 

footways design and construction, ramps, access road, footways and cycleways, access 

drive, vehicular access, access gates, surface water discharge onto highways, highway 

surface water drainage systems, parking and turning, and street lighting.  

 

United Utilities  

29th December 2021 

In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system with 

foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable 

way.  

Page 65



 

  

Following our review of the submitted Drainage Strategy and Design, ref: 18-088r02_B, 

dated 20 August 2018, we can confirm the proposals are acceptable in principle to United 

Utilities. However, we do not have sufficient information on the detail of the drainage 

design. With this in mind, we request the inclusion of conditions relating to surface water 

drainage.  

Environment Agency  

No comments received.  

Natural England  

No comments received. 

Copeland Borough Council – Scientific Officer 

No comments received.  

Copeland Borough Council – Flood and Coastal Defence Engineer 

20th December 2021 

A few comments on this application: 

• The site is in Flood Zone 1. 

• The site is a t a very low risk of surface water flooding. 

• It is proposed that the surface water will be disposed of by mean of soakaways. 

• No evidence has been provided to support the use of soakaways would be feasible. 

• There is no obvious surface water body in the immediate vicinity of the site. 

 

At this stage the applicant has not demonstrated that surface water can be adequately 

drained from site, by the proposed means of soakaways, nor is there an obvious 

watercourse to dispose of surface water, other than by crossing third party land. 

Consequently further evidence needs to be provide to support the application. 

14th March 2022  

With regards to this application, I am raising an objection. 

The application is seeking to dispose of surface water by means of soakaways, as was the 

intention with the earlier application. 

I have already requested information to support the proposal for disposal of surface water 

be infiltration, during the initial consultation for this application. 

As the amended description and information provided has failed to produce such 

information, I have no alternative than to object. 

Copeland Borough Council – Strategic Planning Policy  

3rd May 2022 

Page 66



 

  

This application is a resubmission of 04/18/2297/0O1, which was approved by Copeland 

Borough Council on 19th December 2018. The Strategic Planning team provided comments 

on the previously submitted application, which remain relevant. This stated that “the 

proposal appears to be sustainable development that is well designed, an appropriate scale 

and meets Criteria A, B, E, K, J and L of the Interim Housing Policy.” The previous application 

was determined against the Interim Housing Policy when the Council was unable to 

demonstrate a five year housing land supply. However, as of November 2020, the Council 

are now able to demonstrate this.  

Copeland Core Strategy and Development Management Policies 2013-2028:  

The site is outside of any defined settlement as identified through policy ST2 of the Core 

Strategy. Sites outside of the settlement boundaries are classed as being in the open 

countryside, meaning that development of these would be contrary to policy ST2.  

However, the parts of the Policy which refer to the settlement boundaries (identified on the 

Core Strategy Proposals Map) are considered to be “out-of-date”, regardless of the housing 

land supply position. This is because the development of the emerging Local Plan has 

indicated that in order to meet housing needs identified in the SHMA, development will be 

required outside of those boundaries over the Plan period. Given this, these parts of the 

policy are not considered to accord with the NPPF which requires local authorities to 

significantly boost housing land supply and can therefore be given little weight.  

Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038: 

As a result of the need to develop outside the settlement boundaries identified within the 

Core Strategy, the emerging Copeland Local Plan provides settlement boundary extensions 

to allow additional development to come forward. In the case of Holmrook, a settlement 

boundary has been provided to help guide development. The site is included within the 

settlement boundary due to the existing permission and the relative lack of constraints.  

As part of the development of the emerging Local Plan, a Development Strategy and 

Hierarchy Paper has been produced. This considers the available facilities and services in 

settlements within Copeland to identify the most sustainable settlements for future 

development within the Local Plan. As a result of this, Holmrook has been identified as a 

Sustainable Rural Village in the emerging Local Plan. These are defined as settlements which 

offer a limited number of services, but which could support a limited amount of growth to 

maintain communities.  

Policy DS3PU, which outlined the Settlement Hierarchy in the Publication Draft of the Local 

Plan, received a number of objections through the public consultation process. However, 

none of these objections related to the position of Holmrook as a Sustainable Rural Village 

and therefore the policy can be given moderate weight. It is therefore considered that 

development of this scale within the settlement boundary of Holmrook would be deemed 

suitable in principle. 

The site has been identified as part of a larger piece of land (Dh010) within the Copeland 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA). The SHLAA identifies Dh010 as 

Page 67



 

  

being part developable, with the application site being the developable section of land. The 

remainder of Dh010 is considered undevelopable due to the presence of a National Gas 

Network High Pressure pipeline. The proximity of the gas pipeline to the application site 

may affect the design of the development. Engagement with National Grid may be required 

as part of this.  

The Publication Draft of the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 has recently undergone public 

consultation, and it is anticipated that the Local Plan will be submitted to the Planning 

Inspectorate in summer 2022. Whilst the Local Plan has not yet been adopted, it can be 

given a moderate amount of weight, based on the guidance provided by paragraph 48 of the 

NPPF. Weight may be given dependent on whether the policy has outstanding objections, 

and the significance of objections.  

Landscape Character: 

The Settlement Landscape Character Assessment (SLCA) identifies opportunities for 

development to define the settlement edge in this area, meaning that development of this 

site, if carefully planned and designed, could provide landscape benefits for Holmrook. 

However, the SLCA identifies that the “intimate character of Holmrook and it’s woodland/ 

riverine setting are sensitive to unsympathetic development” and therefore, care needs to 

be taken to ensure that development does not have a negative impact on the existing built 

form.  

Summary: 

The application accords with Core Strategy Policy ST2, however this is partly out of date for 

the reasons set out above. Given this the application should be determined under 

paragraph 11 of the NPPF which states that where policies which are most important for 

determining the application are out-of-date, permission should be granted unless:  

i. “the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 

particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 

proposed; or  

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 

whole.”  

 

The development would provide an appropriate extension to Holmrook, which is identified 

as a Sustainable Rural Village in the new Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 Publication Draft 

and would help to maintain the local community and provide opportunities for defining the 

settlement edge. Given this, unless there are any adverse impacts which significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposal, then the Strategic Planning team 

considers that the application should be approved. 

Copeland Borough Council – Housing Team  

5th January 2022 

Page 68



 

  

This in an application for outline planning permission to develop up to 15 dwellings on a site 

between Drigg and Holmrook. Attached plans show the layout for 11 dwellings, which are 

intended to be a mix of 1, 1.5 and 2 storeys.  

In line with the NPPF and Copeland’s policies there will be an expectation that affordable 

housing will be provided on the site as it is over 10 units. Whilst this is an issue to be 

considered under the reserved matters planning stage, we would like to confirm at this 

stage of the process that we would hope to see affordable housing provided on this site.  

Evidence from our Housing Needs Survey in 2020 shows an older age profile in the local area 

with high levels of home ownership – 89% of respondents were homeowners, with 75% of 

those owning their home outright. More than half of respondents were couples with no 

dependent children and there were few households with children reported. In terms of 

housing need, those who were interested in moving gave reasons of retirement, health and 

mobility and wanting to be nearer to amenities. This suggests that there may be a need for 

new housing to accommodate those wanting to downsize or live in more suitable 

accommodation to suit health or mobility/disability needs. In terms of property type 

required, bungalows were of most interest, again suggesting that people were looking for 

accommodation to suit health needs. We would welcome provision of bungalows on this 

site as they are always in demand and would suit the current demographic as well as those 

wishing to move into the area.  

The location of the site makes it attractive to those working within Sellafield and the supply 

chain and new development may attract a younger market and bring more families to the 

area, which would help support local services.  

To accommodate the needs of the market we would suggest that a mix of 2 and 3 

bedroomed properties was appropriate – this is also in line with the findings of the 2019 

SHMA.  

Overall, we are supportive of this application. 

10th March 2022 

The amendments do not appear to affect our original comments, so nothing further. 

Arboricultural Consultant – Capita 

18th December 2021 

Following our site visit, we have the following comment/observation to make on the 

proposed development. The scheme proposes to construct 11-15 houses on the agricultural 

land. There are currently no trees growing on the site. Hedgerows surround the agricultural 

land.  

The proposed landscape scheme submitted with the outline planning application shows 26 

No. trees and 420m² of woodland to be planted around the perimeter of the proposed 

development site. The landscape plan also indicates 125m of hedgerow planting as part of 

the proposed scheme.  

Page 69



 

  

The plan includes indicative details of aftercare maintenance procedures.  

RECOMMENDATION  

We recommend attaching a condition to the planning permission requiring the landscape 

plan is implemented in full.  

23rd March 2022 

DISCUSSION 

Following our site visit, we have the following comment/observation to make on the 

proposed development.  

The scheme proposes to construct eleven houses on the agricultural land. There are 

currently no trees growing on the site. Hedgerows surround the agricultural land.  

The proposed landscape scheme submitted with the outline planning application shows 

specimen trees and groups of trees to be planted as part of the proposed development. The 

landscape plan also indicates hedgerow planting as part of the proposed scheme.  

RECOMMENDATION 

We recommend attaching a condition to planning permission requiring the applicant to 

submit a Landscaping Plan prior to construction. This must include a specification and 

planting details for the new tree and hedgerow planting and the aftercare.  

We also recommend attaching a condition requiring the applicant to implement the 

approved Landscaping Plan in full. 

Copeland Borough Council – Conservation Officer  

5th January 2022 

Conclusion: No objection 

Assessment:  

This application is a resubmission of 04/18/2297/0O1, which expired in December 2021. 

The principle of developing this site appears to have been previously established, and I do 

not see any reason to think that’s changed. 

A slight harm to the wider setting of the nearby farmhouse Hill Green (non-designated 

heritage asset) can be expected due to the general suburbanisation of countryside, views 

across open fields, and loss of sections of hedging. This setting has already experienced 

harm from the houses opposite, but the direction of travel is still negative. 

When it comes time for detail, I would recommend offsetting this harm by ensuring good 

quality design, both at the level of the layout, access and planting, and at the subsequent 

level of building design. 

I view the proposed access as having neutral impact.  

Page 70



 

  

28th March 2022 

I do not believe this update to the description affects my previous comments. 

Cumbria County Council – Footpaths Officer  

No comments received. 

Health & Safety Executive 

No comments received. 

Cumbria County Council – Resilience Unit  

20th December 2021 

There are no objections to the proposed works. 

However, it should be noted that the location of the property is situated within an area 

outside the site which, in liaison with Sellafield Ltd and the Office for Nuclear Regulation, 

special arrangements are made for residents/business premises, this area is referred to as 

the Detailed Emergency Planning Zone (DEPZ). As a direct result particular attention is paid 

to ensuring that people are aware of the appropriate action to take in the event of an 

incident at the Sellafield site.   

In view of the fact that this application, if granted, could increase the number of persons in 

the area (including trade people) I would be grateful if you could advise the applicant to 

liaise with this office via emergency.planning@cumbria.gov.uk  to allow for further 

discussion to ensure the applicant and their trades people/contractors are aware of the 

appropriate information and actions to take should there be an incident at the Sellafield 

site.  

15th March 2022 

There are no further comments in addition to the reply, below, forwarded on 20th 

December 2021. 

Crime Prevention Design Advisor  

No comments received.  

Electricity North West  

22nd December 2021 

We have considered the above pre planning application submitted on the 14th December 

2021 and find it could have an impact on our infrastructure. 

The development is shown to be adjacent to or affect Electricity North West’s operational 

land or electricity distribution assets.  

Where the development is adjacent to operational land the applicant must ensure that the 

development does not encroach over either the land or any ancillary rights of access or 

cable easements. If planning permission is granted the applicant should verify such details 

Page 71

mailto:emergency.planning@cumbria.gov.uk


 

  

by contacting Electricity North West, Land Rights & Consents, Frederick Road, Salford, 

Manchester M6 6QH. 

The applicant should be advised that great care should be taken at all times to protect both 

the electrical apparatus and any personnel working in its vicinity. 

The applicant should also be referred to two relevant documents produced by the Health 

and Safety Executive, which are available from The Stationery Office Publications Centre and 

The Stationery Office Bookshops, and advised to follow the guidance given. 

The documents are as follows:- 

HS(G)47 – Avoiding danger from underground services. 

GS6 – Avoidance of danger from overhead electric 

lines.                                                                      

The applicant should also be advised that, should there be a requirement to divert the 

apparatus because of the proposed works, the cost of such a diversion would usually be 

borne by the applicant. The applicant should be aware of our requirements for access to 

inspect, maintain, adjust, repair, or alter any of our distribution equipment. This includes 

carrying out works incidental to any of these purposes and this could require works at any 

time of day or night. Our Electricity Services Desk (Tel No. 0800 195 4141) will advise on any 

issues regarding diversions or modifications.  

Electricity North West offers a fully supported mapping service, at a modest cost, for our 

electricity assets. This is a service which is constantly updated by our Data Management 

Team who can be contacted by telephone on 0800 195 4141 or access the website 

http://www.enwl.co.uk/our-services/know-before-you-dig 

It is recommended that the applicant gives early consideration in project design as it is 

better value than traditional methods of data gathering. It is, however, the applicant’s 

responsibility to demonstrate the exact relationship on site between any assets that may 

cross the site and any proposed development. 

23rd March 2022 

We have considered the above pre planning application submitted on the 14th December 

2021 and find it could have an impact on our infrastructure. 

The development is shown to be adjacent to or affect Electricity North West’s operational 

land or electricity distribution assets.  

Where the development is adjacent to operational land the applicant must ensure that the 

development does not encroach over either the land or any ancillary rights of access or 

cable easements. If planning permission is granted the applicant should verify such details 

by contacting Electricity North West, Land Rights & Consents, Frederick Road, Salford, 

Manchester M6 6QH. 

The applicant should be advised that great care should be taken at all times to protect both 

the electrical apparatus and any personnel working in its vicinity. 

Page 72

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.enwl.co.uk%2Four-services%2Fknow-before-you-dig&data=04%7C01%7COliver.Hoban%40copeland.gov.uk%7C95b71fa605454fed52c208d9c52fd8c4%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1%7C0%7C637757631724165495%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=%2BuNI0C1LDab4vull70VC5z%2BaLiyPIqeQ8akduKty%2BsQ%3D&reserved=0


 

  

The applicant should also be referred to two relevant documents produced by the Health 

and Safety Executive, which are available from The Stationery Office Publications Centre and 

The Stationery Office Bookshops, and advised to follow the guidance given. 

The documents are as follows:- 

HS(G)47 – Avoiding danger from underground services. 

GS6 – Avoidance of danger from overhead electric 

lines.                                                                      

The applicant should also be advised that, should there be a requirement to divert the 

apparatus because of the proposed works, the cost of such a diversion would usually be 

borne by the applicant. The applicant should be aware of our requirements for access to 

inspect, maintain, adjust, repair, or alter any of our distribution equipment. This includes 

carrying out works incidental to any of these purposes and this could require works at any 

time of day or night. Our Electricity Services Desk (Tel No. 0800 195 4141) will advise on any 

issues regarding diversions or modifications.  

Electricity North West offers a fully supported mapping service, at a modest cost, for our 

electricity assets. This is a service which is constantly updated by our Data Management 

Team who can be contacted by telephone on 0800 195 4141 or access the website 

http://www.enwl.co.uk/our-services/know-before-you-dig 

It is recommended that the applicant gives early consideration in project design as it is 

better value than traditional methods of data gathering. It is, however, the applicant’s 

responsibility to demonstrate the exact relationship on site between any assets that may 

cross the site and any proposed development. 

 

Public Representation 

This application has been advertised by way of a site notice, press notice, and neighbour 

notification letters issued to eighteen properties.  

Twenty-five letters of objection were received in relation to this application which raise the 

following comments:  

- Objections are the same as to the application approved three years ago.  

- No need for further housing in Drigg and Holmrook, there are a number of 

properties on the market in the area.  

- The application does not explain what housing need there is and what demand is to 

meet it.  

- Previous approval based on housing supply failure which is now not an issue in 

Copeland.  

- The medical facilities in Seascale are full to overflowing.  

- There are no schools in the village.  

- The site is in open countryside. 

- Use brownfield sites.  

Page 73

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.enwl.co.uk%2Four-services%2Fknow-before-you-dig&data=04%7C01%7COliver.Hoban%40copeland.gov.uk%7C95b71fa605454fed52c208d9c52fd8c4%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1%7C0%7C637757631724165495%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=%2BuNI0C1LDab4vull70VC5z%2BaLiyPIqeQ8akduKty%2BsQ%3D&reserved=0


 

  

- Outside of Holmrook settlement boundary, therefore contradicts with the 2013 Local 

Plan Policy.  

- The residents of the area are against the proposed designation of Drigg and 

Holmrook in the new local plan. This should be now taken out of the proposed 

settlement boundary as the timescale for the application has now lasped.  

- The development does not come within the Parish Council’s own development plan.  

- Contradicts the village plan which states small affordable housing.  

- If s 1.1 of the new NPPF is applied because cherry picked parts of the new plan are 

allowed to carry weight above and beyond the current plan then it seems very likely 

that no material planning factors exist that would allow the planning panel to justify 

refusal. The Council are very averse to triggering appeals, not least because of the 

potential financial cost of losing.  It follows that any effective objections will need to 

be based on the unreasonableness of the weighting apparently being given to 

selected parts of the developing plan.  The development takes away greenbelt land 

which separates Drigg and Holmrook, which are small rural settlements. This would 

effectively turn the area into one large housing development.  

- The development would create extra traffic in the village which is already busy with 

extra traffic to the Drigg Nuclear Dump.  

- Not sustainable development as would increase traffic use due to poor rural 

transport provision in the area. This in unacceptable given the Copeland ND 2020 

climate and Environments Policy. Also contradicts the aims of the Zero Carbon 

Cumbria. 

- No lit footpaths for access to services and transport links 

- Access in dangerous position.  

- The field in question flood and the facilities for surface water drainage are non 

existent.  

- Whilst the area of the field proposed for development does not flood there is 

already a problem in the other part of the field and the field immediately north 

which floods up to several feet. 

- If the development is to use soakaways it will in all probably resurface creating larger 

floods in these fields. 

- Ground conditions not suitable for soakaways. 

- It would be better for the development to take the water away to the watercourse. 

- The development should also prove drainage for the adjacent field  

- The developer states more than 300m3 of additional water run off will be caused by 

this development. What is being done to prevent this excess water from saturating 

my property for longer periods? 

- Increase in flood risk.  

- The application states no land drains on the site however this is incorrect.  

- There is only one sewer pipe leading from Smithy Banks and it fairly regularly 

overflows onto the footpath and road.  

- The development will add to the existing sewage issue. Existing systems are full to 

capacity.  

- No statement from UU to confirm that system is capable of additional capacity.  

- Where will the sewage and water run off go?  

Page 74



 

  

- Will the existing systems cope with extra effluent?  

- Drainage strategy needs to be more specific to the proposed development.  

- The planting of trees around the edge of the site will block the visibility of other 

Smithy Banks residents.  

- The landscape proposal has issues with ownership and maintenance of the proposed 

planting. Who will maintain? These will become an eyesore.  

- New landscaping will encourage onto paths.  

- Trees will overhang existing gardens.  

- Is it safe to build in the vicinity of a high pressure gas main? And damages would 

have major consequences for the area.  

- Credibility of the supporting documents as incorrect names and address points used.  

- The site has been sold so all reports with applicants name should be given no weight.  

- Loss of views.  

- Overshadowing.  

- No benefit to local area.  

- No detail on the proposed dwellings therefore visual impact cannot be determined.  

 

Further to the submission of amended plans all neighbours, and objectors of the application 

were reconsulted on this application.  

Fourteen letters of objection were received in relation to this application which raise the 

following comments:  

- Previous objections to this application should still apply.  

- Not clear from documents what the amendments area. Is something being hidden? 

- Amendments are to make application more vague by removing specification of 

number of houses to be built. 

- How can an assessment of the access be made if number of dwellings are not 

known?  

- There is no limit to the number or size of dwellings which can be built.  

- This could increase use of the road by an unacceptable amount.  

- The development is contrary to Copeland Planning Strategy.  

- The development will join both villages together.  

- This is greenfield development. Brownfield land should be considered first.  

- The site is not vacant as stated and is regularly used by cows.  

- There is no need for this development.  

- Previous approval was allowed due to shortfall in the area this is no longer the case. 

- The previous approval has now lapsed by is still shown in the new local plan. This 

should be removed and should be reverted back to greenfield land.  

- Contradicts the village plan which states small affordable housing.  

- Increase in traffic and population where roads and services are already struggling.  

- Lack of local facilities so not sustainable development.  

- No lit footpaths for access to services and transport links. 

- Not sustainable development as would increase traffic use due to poor rural 

transport provision in the area. This in unacceptable given the Copeland ND 2020 

Page 75



 

  

climate and Environments Policy. Also contradicts the aims of the Zero Carbon 

Cumbria. 

- The field at the bottom of the development has flooded on 4 occasions in the past 3 

months.  

- The application states the site does not flood.  

- The application states no land drains on the site however this is incorrect.  

- Soakaway drainage not sufficient.  

- Development will increase flood risk.  

- Existing sewage system is full to capacity and overflows.  

- No statement from UU to confirm that system is capable of additional capacity.  

- Still questions of credibility of the supporting documents as incorrect names and 

address points remain.  

- Loss of views.  

- Trees will overhang existing gardens.  

- No indication of roof heights. 

- Proximity of gas pipeline. Previously told no residential development in close 

proximity will be allowed.  

- Ribbon development not allowed by Copeland Planning Committee in Drigg.  

- Drigg has no focus. Is this now a holiday centre given previous permissions in the 

area?  

- The site has been sold so all reports with applicant’s name should be given no 

weight.  

 

Planning Policy  

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Development Plan  

Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Adopted December 2013)  

Core Strategy  

Policy ST1 – Strategic Development Principles 

Policy ST2 – Spatial Development Strategy 

Policy SS1 – Improving the Housing Offer 

Policy SS2 – Sustainable Housing Growth  

Policy SS3 – Housing Needs, Mix and Affordability  

Policy T1 – Improving Accessibility and Transport 

Policy ENV1 – Flood Risk and Risk Management  

Policy ENV3 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

Page 76



 

  

Policy ENV5 – Protecting and Enhancing the Borough’s Landscapes 

Development Management Policies (DMP)  

Policy DM10 – Achieving Quality of Place  

Policy DM11 – Sustainable Development Standards 

Policy DM12 – Standards of New Residential Developments 

Policy DM22 – Accessible Developments 

Policy DM24 – Development Proposal and Flood Risk 

Policy DM25 – Protecting Nature Conservation Sites, Habitats and Species 

Policy DM26 – Landscaping 

Copeland Local Plan 2001-2016 (LP): 

Saved Policy TSP8 - Parking Requirements 

Proposals Map including settlement boundaries. 

Other Material Planning Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2021)  

National Design Guide (NDG). 

Cumbria Development Design Guide (CDG)  

Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2021 (SHMA) 

Copeland Borough Council Housing Strategy 2018 – 2023 (CBCHS) 

The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLGC) 

Copeland Borough-Wide Housing Needs Survey (2020) 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (CHSR). 

Emerging Copeland Local Plan (ELP):  

The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has recently been the subject of a Publication 

Draft Consultation. The Publication Draft Consultation builds upon the previously completed 

Issues and Options and Preferred Options consultations. Given the stage of preparation of 

the Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 some weight can be attached to policies within the 

Publication Draft where no objections have been received. The Publication Draft provides an 

indication of the direction of travel of the emerging planning policies, which themselves 

have been developed in accordance with the provisions of the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  

The following policies are relevant to this application:- 

Strategic Policy DS1PU: Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development  

Page 77



 

  

Strategic Policy DS2PU: Reducing the impacts of development on Climate Change  

Strategic Policy DS3PU: Settlement Hierarchy  

Strategic Policy DS4PU: Settlement Boundaries 

Strategic Policy DS5PU: Planning Obligations  

Policy DS6PU: Design and Development Standards  

Policy DS7PU: Hard and Soft Landscaping  

Strategic Policy DS8PU: Reducing Flood Risk Policy DS9PU: Sustainable Drainage 

Strategic Policy H1PU: Improving the Housing Offer  

Strategic Policy H2PU: Housing Requirement  

Strategic Policy H3PU: Housing delivery  

Strategic Policy H4PU: Distribution of Housing  

Strategic Policy H5PU: Housing Allocations  

Policy H6PU: New Housing Development  

Policy H7PU: Housing Density and Mix Strategic  

Policy H8PU: Affordable Housing 

Strategic Policy N1PU: Conserving and Enhancing Biodiversity and Geodiversity  

Strategic Policy N2PU: Local Nature Recovery Networks  

Strategic Policy N3PU: Biodiversity Net Gain 

Strategic Policy N6PU: Landscape Protection 

 

Assessment  

The primary issues relevant to the determination of this application are as follows:-  

- The principle of the development;  

- Housing need; 

- Settlement character, landscape impact and visual impact; 

- Scale, design & impact of development on residential amenity; 

- Flood risk and the achievement of satisfactory drainage;  

- Access & highway safety; 

- Ecology.  

- Gas Pipeline & Overhead Cables.  

 

Principle of Development  

The principle of new housing is supported in the Copeland Local Plan through strategic 

policies ST1 and ST2 along with policies SS1, SS2 and SS3. These policies seek to promote 

sustainable development to meet the needs and aspirations of the Boroughs housing 

Page 78



 

  

market, as well as having consideration for the requirements of smaller settlements within 

the Borough, which respect their scale and function.  

Holmrook is a small village located outside of any settlement boundary identified within 

Policy ST2 of the Copeland Local Plan. The application site lies to the west of the village and 

is directly adjoining the built form of the area. As the application site is located outside of 

any settlement boundary the proposal is in conflict with Policy ST2. Policy ST2 of the 

Copeland Local Plan states that outside of the defined settlement boundaries, development 

is restricted to that which has a proven requirement for such a location, including housing 

that meets proven specific and local needs including provision for agricultural workers, 

replacement dwellings, replacement of residential caravans, affordable housing and the 

conversion of rural buildings to residential use. 

Outline planning approval (ref: 4/18/2297/0F1) has previously been granted at this site by 

Members of the Planning Panel for the residential development of the site including detail 

of the proposed access. This approval was granted when the Council were unable to 

demonstrate a five year land supply. Although this permission has now lapsed, the previous 

approval has established the principle for developing the site for residential purposes.  

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires the application of the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development to the provision of housing where there are no relevant 

development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining the 

application are out-of-date. Out of date includes where the Local Planning Authority cannot 

demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as 

set out in paragraph 73); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of 

housing was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the 

previous three years.  

In November 2020, Copeland Borough Council produced a Five Year Housing Land Supply 

Statement which demonstrates a 6.35 year supply of deliverable housing sites against the 

emerging housing requirement calculated in the updated Strategic Housing Market 

Assessment (SHMA) and a 55 year supply against the Government’s standard methodology 

figure. Copeland Borough Council has also met the most recent Housing Delivery Test.  

Notwithstanding the above, the policies in the Local Plan must still be considered out of 

date and only some weight can be given their content as far as they are consistent with the 

provisions of the NPPF.  

Consultation on the Local Plan 2017-2035 Preferred Options Draft (ECLP) ended in 

December 2020. The ECLP will, once adopted, replace the policies of the adopted Local Plan. 

The emerging Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 has recently been the subject of a Publication 

Draft Consultation. The Publication Draft Consultation builds upon the previously completed 

Issues and Options and Preferred Options consultations. Given the stage of preparation of 

the Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035 some weight can be attached to policies within the 

Publication Draft where no objections have been received. The Publication Draft provides an 

indication of the direction of travel of the emerging planning policies, which themselves 

have been developed in accordance with the provisions of the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  

Page 79



 

  

The ECLP has been drafted based upon an evidence base. The SHMA calculates a housing 

need in Copeland over the plan period 2017-2035 of 140 dwellings per annum. The ECLP 

confirms that to meet the housing need identified in the SHMA, development will be 

required beyond the existing development boundaries identified in Policy ST2 of the CS.  

Strategic Policy DS3PU of the ECLP seeks to identify Holmrook as a ‘Sustainable Rural 

Village’, given the level of services available within the area. The ECLP states that limited 

growth and development within these areas will help to maintain communities and support 

the retention of the existing services and businesses. The ECLP seeks to establish a 

settlement boundary around Holmrook. This site is identified within the ECLP as within the 

proposed new settlement boundary. Whilst the proposed development aligns with the 

emerging policies and provisions of the ECLP, there are outstanding objections to the 

relevant policies applicable to this development. The Council’s Strategic Planning Policy 

Team have however confirmed that as none of these objections relate to the position of 

Holmrook as a Sustainable Rural Village, the policy can be given moderate weight in decision 

making and it is therefore considered that development of this scale within the settlement 

boundary of Holmrook would be deemed suitable in principle.  

The application site lies on the western edge of the built up are of Holmrook, and is 

considered to be within walking distance of the key local services of both Holmrook and 

Drigg given the linked footpath. Copeland’s Village Survey identified the following services 

within these two areas; two community facilities, a church, two pubs, a café, a post office, 

fours shops, a play ground, a train station and a large employer (Digg Low Level Waste 

Disposal Site).  

In the context of the provisions of Paragraph 11, the Council’s defined settlement 

boundaries are considered to be out of date. Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out that 

planning permission should be granted unless: 

i. The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole. 

 

In applying the provisions of paragraph 11:  

- The site would assist in increasing housing supply to meet the identified need for 

housing within the Borough;  

- The proposed development is small scale and is considered appropriate in size to the 

existing village of Holmrook; 

- The site adjoins the existing built form on the western edge of Holmrook;  

- The site is located in close proximity to the services located within Holmrook and 

Drigg. The proposed development will support existing services and thus the 

aspiration of retaining these services; 

- Some sustainable travel options exist within the vicinity, including Drigg Train 

Station, as per the provisions of Policy DM22 of the Local Plan.  

Page 80



 

  

Housing Need 

The NPPF encourages the provision of affordable housing as part of major development 

schemes, which include proposals for 10 or more houses. Policy SS3 of the Local Plan 

requires housing development to demonstrate how proposals will deliver an appropriate 

mix of housing as set out in the SHMA. 

Holmrook falls within the Whitehaven Housing Market Area (HMA) of Copeland Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). The SMHA suggest a particular focus on the delivery of 

three bedroom houses, semidetached and detached houses with four or more bedrooms 

and bungalows and is identified as having a high need for new affordable housing.  

The illustrative site layout plan and supporting documentation outlines that the proposed 

dwellings are likely to comprise of a mix of detached and semi detached dwellings.  

The Council’s Strategic Housing Team have stated that in line with the NPPF and Copeland 

Local Plan Policies there will be an expectation that affordable housing will be provided on 

the site for over 10 units. The Housing Team have also stated that they would welcome 

provision of bungalows on this site as they are always in demand and would suit the current 

demographic, and the location of the site makes it attractive to those working within 

Sellafield and the supply chain and new development may attract a younger market and 

bring more families to the area, which would help support local services. They therefore 

suggest that a mix of 2 and 3 bedroomed properties was appropriate to accommodate the 

needs of the market in line with the findings of the 2019 SHMA.  

As part of the application process the proposed number of dwellings was removed from the 

description of the proposal as requested by the agent in order to reflect the previous 

approval at this site (ref: 4/18/2297/0F1). The agent for this application has confirmed that 

as this application is in outline form it has not been determined that the final quantum of 

dwellings will be and, therefore whether or not the threshold for affordable housing will be 

triggered in the final development. As per the previous outline approval at this site it is 

therefore proposed to include a condition within the decision notice for this application 

which would require the applicant to enter into a S106 agreement with the Local Planning 

Authority should the final scheme for this site consist of 10 or more dwellings.  

The proposed development has the potential to assist in providing a greater balance of 

market housing stock within the Borough, therefore meeting an identified housing need in 

accordance with the provisions of Policy SS3 of CS and Paragraph 61 of the NPPF. 

 

Settlement Character, Landscape Impact and Visual Impact 

Policy ENV5 states that the Borough’s landscapes will be protected and enhanced by: 

protecting all landscapes from inappropriate change by ensuring that the development does 

not threaten or detract from the distinctive characteristics of that particular area; that 

where the benefits of the development outweigh the potential harm, ensuring that the 

impact of the development on the landscape is minimised through adequate mitigation, 

Page 81



 

  

preferably on-site; and, supporting proposals which enhance the value of the Borough’s 

landscapes.  

Policy DM10 seeks that development responds positively to the character of the site and the 

immediate and wider setting and enhances local distinctiveness including: an appropriate 

size and arrangement of development plots; the appropriate provision, orientation, 

proportion, scale and massing of buildings; and, careful attention to the design of spaces 

between buildings. 

The application site comprises of undeveloped land that lies on the edge of the built up area 

of Holmrook, adjacent to a number of existing dwellings. The land contributes positively to 

the character of Holmrook with particular regard to the approach to the settlement from 

the west.  

The Cumbria Landscape Character Guidance and Toolkit (CLCGT) identifies the site as being 

within Sub Type 5b: Lowland - Low Farmland. The Key Characteristics of the land comprise: 

undulating and rolling topography, intensely farmed agricultural pasture dominates, patchy 

areas of woodland provide contrast to the pasture, woodland is uncommon west towards 

the coast, fields are large and rectangular, and hedges, hedgerow trees and fences bound 

fields and criss cross up and over the rolling landscape. 

The Guidelines for development include: when new development takes place consider 

opportunities to enhance and strengthen green infrastructure to provide a link between 

urban areas and the wider countryside, reinforcing woodland belts, enhancing water and 

soil quality and the provision of green corridors from and between settlements could all 

help reinforce landscape and biodiversity features, and ensure new development respects 

the historic form and scale of villages creating new focal spaces and using materials that are 

sympathetic to local vernacular styles. Further ribbon development or fragmented 

development should be supported where it is compatible with the wider landscape 

character. 

The site comprises an area of agricultural land located to the west of Holmrook, directly 

adjoining the built form of the village. The site forms part of a larger field which separate 

Drigg from the village of Holrook. This area of Holmrook is characterised by detached 

dwellings formed within small estates. The proposed development would comprise of an 

estate type development, which would provide an extension of the existing built form of the 

village to the west. The proposed development will be of a low density which will reflect the 

built form of this part of Holmrook, particularly the adjacent residential estate of Smithy 

Banks. The development would be viewed as an extension to the Holmrook settlement and 

would be viewed against the backdrop of the existing properties at Smithy Banks. The 

development is not considered to result in a major intrusion into the open countryside, as 

the site would be sited adjacent to existing dwellings. By restricting development to only 

part of this greenfield the proposal would maintain the character of Holmrook and Drigg, 

which are characterised by pockets of development separated by clear spaces between 

them. This would prevent the two settlements from merging. Additional landscaping, which 

would be detailed within subsequent reserved matters applications and secured by 

Page 82



 

  

appropriately worded planning conditions, will also help to lessen the impact on the 

character and appearance of the development.  

Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for 

subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application 

demonstrates that the site could be developed in a form that respects the form, density and 

character of the existing developments within the locality. The proposal is therefore 

considered to comply with policies ST1 and ENV5 of the Copeland Local Plan and provision 

of the NPPF. 

 

Scale, Design and Impact on Residential Amenity 

Within the Copeland Local Plan, Policies ST1, DM10, DM11, and DM12 of the Local Plan, and 

section 12 of the NPPF seek to secure high standards of design for new residential 

properties. These policies seek to create and maintain a reasonable standard of amenity and 

set out detailed requirements with regard to standard of residential amenity, including the 

provision of parking spaces, separation distances and open space. 

The application includes indicative details of the proposed layout only with details of the 

scale and appearance of the dwellings reserved for subsequent approval at the Reserved 

Matters stage. As submitted the proposed plot layout does reasonably allow for adequate 

separation distances to be achieved between facing elevations of the proposed and existing 

dwellings as required by Policy DM12 of the Local Plan. It is also considered that suitable 

boundary treatments can be secured as part of this permission to minimise the potential 

impact on the existing property. Whilst a landscaping plan has been submitted to support 

this application, these details are indicative only. Full details of landscaping, and therefore 

boundary treatment, for this development will therefore be secured by condition alongside 

a maintenance schedule to overcome concerns of local residents.  

Whilst the matters of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for 

subsequent approval, the illustrative layout plan submitted in support of the application 

demonstrates that a development layout is deliverable with interface separation distances 

that would not result in harm to the residential amenity of the neighbouring residential 

dwellings through loss of light, overshadowing, overbearing and overlooking. The 

requirements of Policy DM12 of the Local Plan are considered achievable. 

 

Flood Risk and the Achievement of Satisfactory Drainage  

Policy ST1B(ii) and paragraph 163 of the NPPF seek to focus development on sites that are 

at least risk of flooding and where development in flood risk is unavoidable, ensure that the 

risk is minimised or mitigated through appropriate design. Policy ENV1 and DM24 of the 

Copeland Local Plan reinforces the focus of protecting development against flood risk.  

Page 83



 

  

Whilst the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 the Council’s Flood and Coastal 

Defence Engineer, Lead Local Flood Authority and United Utilities have been consulted upon 

this application.  

A flood risk assessment has been submitted to support this application. This report 

concludes that the development should reduce the overall level of flood risk in the area 

through the layout and form of the development and the appropriate application of 

sustainable drainage systems.  

Although the application is in outline form only, the agent for this application has submitted 

a Drainage Strategy to support this application. This document indicates that the foul water 

for the site will be discharged into the adjacent United Utilities network located within the 

public highway and surface water will be dealt with by soakaways. The Parish Council and 

local residents have objected to this development due to inadequate infrastructure in the 

village and the increased risk of flooding. No objections have been received to this 

application from any statutory consultees, however it has been indicated that the site 

should be drained on a separate systems. United Utilities have reviewed the submitted 

Drainage Strategy for this application and have confirmed that whilst the proposals are 

acceptable in principle they do not have sufficient information on the detail of the drainage 

design. On this basis, UU have requested the inclusion of conditions relating to surface 

water drainage. In line with these comments from United Utilities relevant conditions have 

been attached to ensure an adequate drainage system at the site and to ensure a surface 

water drainage scheme based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the NPPF is submitted 

to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of works.  

The proposed conditions will secure proper drainage within the site and will manage the risk 

of flooring and pollution, ensuring that the development complies with Policy ENV1 and 

Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 and the provisions of the NPPF. 

 

Access, Parking and Highway Safety 

Policy T1 of the Core Strategy requires mitigation measures to be secured to address the 

impact of major housing schemes on the Boroughs transportation system. Policy DM22 of 

the Copeland Local Plan requires developments to be accessible to all users and to meet 

adopted car parking standards, which reflect the needs of the Borough in its rural context. 

The application has been submitted in outline form only, however full details of the 

proposed access have been included within the application. A detailed plan has been 

submitted with this application to show how access can be achieved from the B5344 to the 

south of the site. Access to the site is to be via a 4.8m wide shared surface road with splays 

of 48.2m x 2.4m to the west and 44.4m x 2.4m to the east. These details reflect the access 

details approved under the previous outline planning approval (ref: 4/18/2297/0F1).   

Although concerns have been raised by both the Parish Council and local residents with 

regard to the suitability of the proposed access, Cumbria Highways have confirmed that as 

per their previous response to the previous outline approval at this site, they raise no 

Page 84



 

  

objections to the proposal subject to the inclusion of conditions relating to footways design 

and construction, ramps, access road, footways and cycleways, access drive, vehicular 

access, access gates, surface water discharge onto highways, highway surface water 

drainage systems, parking and turning, and street lighting. It is therefore considered that 

based on the inclusion of the requested conditions, the proposal will not have a detrimental 

impact on highway safety in accordance with Policies T1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local 

Plan and provisions of the NPPF.  

 

Ecology  

Policies ST1, ENV3, and DM25 seeks to ensure that new development will protect and 

enhance biodiversity and geodiversity.  

An Ecological Appraisal has been submitted in support of this planning application and 

provides an assessment of the ecological impacts of the development. The report concludes:  

- Designated sites: Drigg Holme SSSI is 0.3 km south, Hallsenna Moor SSSI is 1 km 

north-west and Drigg Coast SAC and SSSI is 1.2 km south-west from site. There are 

also five County Wildlife Sites and two Sites of Invertebrate Significance within 2 km 

of the site.  

- Habitats: The site comprises improved grassland, intact species-poor hedgerows and 

intact species rich hedgerow.  

- Protected and notable species: The site has habitat suitability for amphibians, 

reptiles, bats (foraging and commuting), breeding birds and red squirrel. Invasive 

montbretia was recorded onsite. 

 

Based on these conclusions the following mitigation measures/recommendations are 

therefore made as part of this survey:  

- A precautionary approach should be taken on site in order to avoid any potential risk 

of injury to individual GCN, other amphibians and reptile species that may be present 

within the works footprint. Any hedgerow / vegetation removal should be carried 

out under an approved Method Statement that will include Reasonable Avoidance 

Measures with regard to the above species. If GCN are discovered, the works must 

cease immediately, and advice sought from an ECoW / GCN licenced ecologist.  

- A pre-works badger survey of the proposed works area for badger is recommended a 

minimum of three months prior to works. 

- Any works affecting potential bird nesting habitat (i.e. any vegetation clearance) 

should avoid the nesting period (March to September inclusive) or be immediately 

preceded (within 48 hours) with a nesting bird check by a suitably qualified ecologist.  

- The hedgerows must be protected during construction in line with BS 5837:2021 by 

maintaining a 1m buffer from the base of the hedgerow.  

- A sensitive lighting scheme should be designed and implemented to protect 

important features for bats and other nocturnal wildlife.  

Page 85



 

  

- It is advised that an Invasive Species Method Statement is produced by a specialist 

contractor and implemented to control and eradicate the montbretia present within 

Hedgerow 2.  

- It is recommended that enhancement measures are included in the final 

development such as landscaping with native species and inclusion of bat and bird 

boxes.  

 

Appropriately worded planning conditions will be attached to any decision notice to ensure 

the development is carried out in accordance with the ecological appraisal and identified 

mitigation measures and additional surveys. 

Concerns have been raised with regard to the detrimental impact the development will have 

upon ecology. Natural England have been consulted on this application however their 

comments are still outstanding. Any response received will be reported at the meeting.  

Subject to the planning conditions set out above the proposal is considered to achieve the 

requirement of Policies ST1, ENV3 and DM25 of the Copeland Local Plan.  

 

Gas Pipeline & Overhead Cables 

A gas pipeline, known as FM16 - Pennington to Sellafield PS Located to the west of the 

application site is. This application site falls within the gas pipeline 135m buffer zone.  

As part of this application Northern Gas Network as the Health and Safety Executive have 

been consulted on the proposed works, however no comments have been received. A 

consultation response was however received to the original outline approval therefore their 

comments and advise has been considered as part of this currently application. It has 

previous been confirmed that Northern Gas Network have no objections to this proposal, 

however, they have stated that there may be apparatus in the area that may be at risk 

during construction works. Northern Gas Network have therefore stated that should this 

planning application be approved then the developer should contact them directly to 

discuss requirements for the site in detail. Should diversionary works be required these will 

be fully chargeable to the developer.  

The western corner of the application site also accommodates overhear cables which the 

applicant proposes to direct along the western boundary of the site as part of this 

development. Electricity North West have confirmed that the development could have 

impacts on their infrastructure as the development is shown to be adjacent to or affect 

Electricity North West’s operational land or electricity distribution assets. Electricity North 

West have also confirmed that should there be a requirement to divert the apparatus 

because of the proposed works, the cost of such a diversion would usually be borne by the 

applicant. 

Based on this advice from previous advise from Northern Gas Network and comments from 

Electricity North West these requirements have been included as informatives within the 

decision notice for this application.  

Page 86



 

  

 

Planning Balance 

The application site is located outside of any settlement boundary as defined in Policy ST2 of 

the Copeland Local Plan.  

Outline planning approval (ref: 4/18/2297/0F1) has previously been granted at this site by 

Members of the Planning Panel for the residential development of the site including detail 

of the proposed access. This approval was granted when the Council were unable to 

demonstrate a five year land supply. Although this permission has now lapsed, the previous 

approval has established the principle for developing the site for residential purposes.  

For the reasons outlined, in assessing the proposed development, Paragraph 11 of the NPPF 

is engaged with the policies of the Development Plan which are most important for 

determining the application are to be considered out of date and it required that planning 

permission be granted unless: 

- the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.  

 

The proposed development is in clear conflict with the provisions of Policy ST2 of the Local 

Plan with regard to the location outside of any settlement boundary; however, given the 

importance of this policy to the determination of the application and its level of conformity 

with the NPPF, only limited weight can be given to this conflict in decision taking. 

Strategic Policy DS3PU of the ECLP seeks to identify Holmrook as a ‘Sustainable Rural 

Village’, given the level of services available within the area. Although there are objections 

to this policy the Council’s Strategic Planning Policy Team have however confirmed that as 

none of these objections relate to the position of Holmrook as a Sustainable Rural Village, 

the policy can be given moderate weight in decision making and it is therefore considered 

that development of this scale within the settlement boundary of Holmrook would be 

deemed suitable in principle.  

The development will assist in boosting housing supply for the Borough, is of an appropriate 

scale for the area, will support the retention of existing services locally, and benefits from 

some limited sustainable travel options in accordance with the spatial objectives of the 

Local Plan. Whilst the development by virtue of its location would have some impacts on the 

existing character of the west of the village, the small-scale proposal has been designed to 

respect the character and built form of this area of the settlement whilst retaining the 

separation between Holmrook and Drigg. The development is considered an extension to 

the settlement and would be viewed against the existing built form of Holmrook, limiting its 

impacts.  

 

Page 87



 

  

Conclusion 

On balance, whist conflicts are identified it is considered that these are collectively not 

significantly harmful to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the identified benefits of 

the development, which would include: the provision of housing in a sustainable location 

and supporting local services when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a 

whole.  

 

Recommendation:- 

Approve in Outline subject to the following conditions. 

 

Conditions   

Standard Conditions 
 

a) The layout, scale, appearance, access and landscaping must be approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason 
 
To comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 

by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2. Detailed plans and drawings with respect to the matters reserved for subsequent 
approval must be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within three years of the 
date of this permission and the development hereby permitted must be commenced 
not later than the later of the following dates:- 

 

a) The expiration of THREE years from the date of this permission 

Or 

b) The expiration of TWO years from the final approval of the reserved matters 

or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last 

such matter to be approved. 

Reason 

To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development in detail and to 

comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

Page 88



 

  

3. This permission relates to the following plans and documents as received on the 
respective dates and development must be carried out in accordance with them:- 
 

- Site Location Plan, Scale 1:2500, received by the Local Planning Authority 
on the 1st December 2021. 

- Proposed Access Arrangements, Drawing No: C001A, received by the 
Local Planning Authority on the 1st December 2021. 

- Drainage Strategy and Design, prepared by Kingmoor Consulting August 
2018, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 1st December 
2021. 

- Flood Risk Assessment, Prepared by Kingmoor Consulting April 2028, 
received by the Local Planning Authority on the 1st December 2021. 

- Ecological Appraisal (Amended), Prepared by Tetra Tech Planning 
February 2022, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 28th 
February 2022. 

- Access Appraisal, Prepared by WYG Transport August 2018, received by 
the Local Planning Authority on the 1st December 2021. 

- Planning Statement (Amended), Prepared by Tetra Tech Planning 
February 2022, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 28th 
February 2022.  

 
Reason 

To conform with the requirement of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

 

Pre-Commencement Conditions: 

4. Before development commences full details of the foul and surface water drainage 

scheme must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

The approved scheme must become operational before the development is brought 

into use and must be so maintained thereafter.   

 

Reason 

To ensure the provision of a satisfactory drainage scheme in accordance with the 

provision of Policy ENV1 and Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028. 

 

5. No development must commence until a surface water drainage scheme has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage 
scheme must include:  

 
a) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning 

Practice Guidance (or any subsequent amendment thereof). This investigation 

Page 89



 

  

shall include evidence of an assessment of ground conditions and the potential 
for infiltration of surface water;  

b) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local planning 
authority (if it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the investigations); and 

c) A timetable for its implementation.  
 

The approved scheme must also be in accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any subsequent 
replacement national standards.  
 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in accordance with the 
approved drainage scheme.  
 
Reason 
 
To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to manage the 
risk of flooding and pollution in accordance with the provision of Policy ENV1 and 
Policy DM24 of the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028. 

 

6. Details of all measures to be taken by the applicant/developer to prevent surface 
water discharging onto or off the highway must be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval prior to development being commenced. Any approved works 
must be implemented prior to the development being completed and must be 
maintained operational thereafter.  
 
Reason  
 
In the interests of highway safety and environmental management in accordance 
with Policy T1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan.  

 

7. The carriageway, footways, footpaths, cycleways etc must be designed, constructed, 

drained and lit to a standard suitable for adoption and in this respect further details, 

including longitudinal/cross sections, must be submitted to the Local Planning 

Authority for approval before work commences on site. No work shall be 

commenced until a full specification has been approved. These details must be in 

accordance with the standards laid down in the current Cumbria Design Guide. Any 

works so approved must be constructed before the development is complete and 

must be retained as such at all times thereafter.  

 

Reason 

 

To ensure a minimum standard of construction in the interests of highway safety in 

accordance with Policy T1 and DM22 of the Copeland Local Plan. 

 

Page 90



 

  

8. Ramps must be provided on each side of every junction to enable wheelchairs, 

pushchairs etc. to be safely manoeuvred at kerb lines. Details of all such ramps must 

be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval before development 

commences. Any details so approved must be constructed as part of the 

development and must be retained as such at all times thereafter. 

 

Reason 

 

To ensure that pedestrians and people with impaired mobility can negotiate road 

junctions in relative safety in accordance with Policy T1 and DM22 of the Copeland 

Local Plan. 

 

9. No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape 

works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. These works must include hard surfacing, means of enclosure, finished 

levels or contours etc. Landscaping must be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details and retained at all times thereafter. 

 

Reason 

  

To enhance the appearance of the development in the interest of visual amenities of 

the area and to ensure a satisfactory landscaping scheme in accordance with ENV5 

and DM10 of the Copeland Local Plan.  

 

10. No development shall take place until a schedule of landscape maintenance has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

schedule must include details for its implementation. Development must be carried 

out in accordance with the approved schedule. 

 

Reason 

To ensure the implementation of a satisfactory landscaping scheme in accordance 

with ENV5 and DM10 of the Copeland Local Plan. 

 

Prior to Occupation Conditions: 

11. No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until the estate road including 

footways and cycleways to serve such dwellings has been constructed in all respects 

to base course level and street lighting where it is to form part of the estate road has 

been provided and brought into full operational use. 

 

Reason 

Page 91



 

  

In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy T1 and DM22 of the 

Copeland Local Plan. 

 

12. Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage management and 
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority and agreed in writing. The sustainable drainage management and 
maintenance plan shall include as a minimum: 
 

a) Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident’s management 
company; and 

b) Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the 
sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water 
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. 

 
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved plan. 
 
Reason 
 
To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the sustainable drainage 
system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution during the lifetime of 
the development. 

 

Other Conditions: 
 

13. In the case of any ‘Reserved Matter’ or ‘Full Application’ for approval of detailed 

design for this site, if the scheme consists of 10 or more dwellings, the applicant 

must enter into a planning obligation pursuant to S106 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 which will cover the provision of affordable housing contributions.  

 

Reason 

 

To ensure the provision of affordable housing on the site in accordance with the 

National Planning Policy Framework (2018) or any subsequently adopted Copeland 

Borough Council Local Plan.  

 

14. The development must implement all of the mitigation and compensation measures 

set out in the approved document ‘Ecological Appraisal (Amended), Prepared by 

Tetra Tech Planning February 2022’, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 

28th February 2022. The development must be carried out in accordance with the 

approved document at all times thereafter.  

 
Reasons  

Page 92



 

  

 
To protect the ecological interests evident on the site in accordance with Policies 
ST1, ENV3, and DM25 of the Copeland Local Plan. 

 

15. The development must be carried out in accordance with and implement all of the 
details and mitigation measures specified within ‘Flood Risk Assessment, Prepared 
by Kingmoor Consulting April 2018, received by the Local Planning Authority on the 
1st December 2021’, and must be maintained as such at all times thereafter. 
 
Reason  

 

For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that adequate measures are incorporated 

to protect the occupiers from flooding.  

 

16. Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. 
 
Reason 
 
To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 

 

17. There must be no vehicular access to or egress from the site other than via the 

approved access, unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason 

To avoid vehicles entering or leaving the site by an unsatisfactory access or route, in 

the interests of road safety in accordance with Policy T1 and DM22 of the Copeland 

Local Plan. 

 

18. Access gates, if provided, must be hung to open inwards only away from the 

highway. 

 

Reason 

In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy T1 and DM22 of the 

Copeland Local Plan. 

 

19. All matters relating to the layout of the site, parking and turning within the site shall 

be reserved for approval at the detail planning stage. 

 

Reason 

Page 93



 

  

In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy T1 and DM22 of the 

Copeland Local Plan. 

 

20. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that 

order with or without modification) no external alterations (including replacement 

windows and doors) or extensions, conservatories, dormer, or enlargement shall be 

carried out to the dwellings / buildings, nor shall any detached building, enclosure, 

domestic fuel containers, pool or hardstandings be constructed within the curtilage 

other than those expressly authorised by this permission. 

 

Reason  

 

To safeguard the character and appearance of the development in the interests of 

visual amenity. 

 

Informatives: 

1. The street lighting layout on the B5344 will need to be modified to accommodate 

the creation of a new junction, these changes will be at the developer’s expense. 

 

2. The applicant is advised to liaise with the Resilience Unit office via 

emergency.planning@cumbria.gov.uk to allow for further discussion to ensure the 

applicant is aware of the appropriate information and actions to take should there 

be an incident at the Sellafield site.  

 

3. Northern Gas Networks have confirmed that there may be apparatus in the area that 
may be at risk during construction works. The promoter of these works should 
contact Northern Gas Network directly to discuss their requirements in detail. 
Should diversionary works be required these will be fully chargeable to the 
developer/applicant. 

 

4. Electricity North-West have confirmed that their overhead network will be impacted 
as part of this development. The developer should contact Electricity North-West to 
discuss details of their proposal to divert these cables.  

 

Statement: 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including planning 

policies and any representations that may have been received, and subsequently 

Page 94

mailto:emergency.planning@cumbria.gov.uk


 

  

determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Planning Panel 180522 

             
DELEGATED DECISIONS 
 
Lead Officer:  Nick Hayhurst – Planning and Place Manager 
 
 

To inform Members of the Delegated Decisions made in the period  
4 April 2022 to 6 May 2022.    

 
 
Recommendation: That the List of Delegated Decisions be noted.  
 
Resource Implications: Nil 
 

1. The Planning and Place Manager has delegated authority to determine 
Planning Applications as stated in Chapter 10 of the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 

2. It is a requirement that the Planning and Place Manager report details of 
all applications determined under delegated powers to the Planning 
Panel. 
 

3. Attached is a list of Delegated Decisions made in the period  
4 April 2022 to 6 May 2022. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Contact Officer:  Nick Hayhurst – Planning and Place Manager 
 
Appendix: List of Delegated Decisions 
 
Background Papers: 
 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 5



 

Application Num  4/21/2265/0F1 

Applicant Miss C O'Neil, 8 Murton Park, Arlecdon, Frizington, CA26 3UT, 

Location 8 MURTON PARK, ARLECDON 

Proposal DEMOLITION OF EXISTING GARAGE, REPLACEMENT WITH 1.5 

STOREY GARAGE WITH STORE/GYM OVER 

Decision Withdrawn 

Decision Date 19 April 2022 

Parish Arlecdon and Frizington 

  

Application Num  4/22/2008/0F1 

Applicant Stephen Fawcett, 25 Hazelgrove, Seaton, Workington, CA14 

1QU, 

Location FALCON CLUB, CROADALLA AVENUE, EGREMONT 

Proposal ERECTION OF COVERED STANDING AREA TO ACCOMMODATE 

50 PEOPLE (NO SEATS); CONSTRUCT OF 1M WIDE HARD 

STANDING AREAS AROUND 2 ADJACENT SIDES OF THE 

PITCH; DEMOLITION AND REPLACEMENT OF NO.2 DUG OUTS 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 22 April 2022 

Parish Egremont 

  

Application Num  4/22/2011/0F1 

Applicant Mr Roy Fowler, 8 Spout House, Sandwith, Whitehaven, CA28 

9UG, 

Location SPOUT HOUSE, SANDWITH 

Proposal CONVERSION OF DOMESTIC GARAGE/STORE INTO 

DWELLING (RESUBMISSION OF WITHDRAWN APPLICATION 

4/21/2010/0F1) 

Decision Refuse 

Decision Date 29 April 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2044/0F1 

Applicant Mr David Moore, 51 Keir Hardie Avenue, Cleator Moor, CA25 

5EQ, 

Location 51 KEIR HARDIE AVENUE, CLEATOR MOOR 

Proposal SINGLE STOREY SIDE AND REAR WRAP AROUND EXTENSION 

- RESUBMISSION OF REVISED SCHEME FOR WITHDRAWN 

APPLICATION 4/21/2438/0F1 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 14 April 2022 

Parish Cleator Moor 

 

Page 98



  

Application Num  4/22/2108/0F1 

Applicant PCL Developments (Cumbria) Ltd, Cappella Casa, Victoria 

Terrace, Whitehaven, CA28 8AB, FAO: Ian Todd, 

Location RUDHALLS, BREWERY INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, BIRKS ROAD, 

CLEATOR MOOR 

Proposal REPLACEMENT OF EXISTING FENCE AND INSTALLATION OF 

AN ADDITIONAL 15 METRES OF NEW FENCING EXTENDING 

UP TO 1.8 METRES IN HEIGHT 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 28 April 2022 

Parish Cleator Moor 

  

Application Num  4/22/2077/0F1 

Applicant PCL Developments (Cumbria) Ltd, Cappella Casa, Victoria 

Terrace, Whitehaven, CA28 8AB, FAO: Mr Ian Todd, 

Location RAEBURN GROVE, VICTORIA TERRACE, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal ERECTION OF A DETACHED GARDEN SUMMER ROOM 

(RETROSPECTIVE) 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 20 April 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2053/0F1 

Applicant Mr A Stobbart, 2A Hillcrest Avenue, Whitehaven, Cumbria, 

CA28 6SU, 

Location 2A HILLCREST AVENUE, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal SINGLE STOREY DAY ROOM EXTENSION TO PART SIDE & 

REAR ELEVATIONS 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 26 April 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2060/0F1 

Applicant Mr Mark Rudd, Hillside, Brisco Road, Egremont, CA22 2EJ, 

Location HILLSIDE, BRISCO ROAD, EGREMONT 

Proposal SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO REAR AND SIDE OF 

PROPERTY (WITH ROOM IN ROOF SPACE) 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 4 April 2022 

Parish Egremont 

  

Page 99



Application Num  4/22/2122/0F1 

Applicant Mike Mellon, 39 Woodlands Avenue, Whitehaven, CA28 6TF, 

Location 39 WOODLANDS AVENUE, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal PROPOSED DETACHED DOUBLE GARAGE 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 11 April 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2071/0F1 

Applicant Ms Foster, 37 Coronation Drive, Whitehaven, Cumbria, CA28 

6JW, 

Location 37 CORONATION DRIVE, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION & NEW GLAZED TERRACE TO 

REAR 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 4 April 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2057/0F1 

Applicant Diane & Peter Clark, Corn Mill Cottage, Kirksanton, Cumbria, 

LA18 4NN, 

Location CORN MILL COTTAGE, KIRKSANTON 

Proposal REMOVAL OF EXISTING CONSERVATORY AND DORMER 

PROJECTION, AND THE CONSTRUCTION OF A FULL WIDTH 

DORMER PROJECTION WITH STONE EXTERNAL WALLS, NEW 

EXTERNAL FLAT ROOF CANOPY AND OAK POST WITH STONE 

BOUNDARY WALL, PLUS THE INSTALLATION OF A NEW ROOF 

LIGHT TO THE EXISTING STAIRWELL AND JULIETTE 

BALCONY DOORS & RAILING TO THE REAR ELEVATION 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 4 April 2022 

Parish Whicham 

  

Application Num  4/22/2111/0L1 

Applicant Mrs Carol Wilson, 3 Foxhouses Road, Whitehaven, CA28 8AE, 

Location 3 FOXHOUSES ROAD, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal LISTED BUILDING CONSENT TO REPLACE SLOPED GARDEN 

TO CREATE FLAT GROUND; BUILDING THREE RETAINING 

WALLS (MOVING SOIL AS REQUIRED); REINSTATE BRICK 

PATHS AND NEW BRICK PATIO TO REAR; BUILD NATURAL 

POND 

Decision Approve Listed Building Consent (start within 3yr) 

Decision Date 22 April 2022 

Page 100



Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2067/0F1 

Applicant Ms Banks, 1 Garth Bank, Egremont, CA22 2BP, 

Location 1 GARTH BANK, EGREMONT 

Proposal DOUBLE STOREY EXTENSION TO SIDE OF DWELLING 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 5 April 2022 

Parish Egremont 

  

Application Num  4/22/2068/0F1 

Applicant Mr Robert Cooper, 13 Willowside Park, Haverigg, Millom, 

LA18 4PT, 

Location 13 WILLOWSIDE PARK, HAVERIGG 

Proposal ERECT SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO REAR 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 11 April 2022 

Parish Millom 

  

Application Num  4/22/2079/0F1 

Applicant Charlotte Oneil, 8 Murton Park, Cumbria, Arlecdon, CA26 

3UT, 

Location 8 MURTON PARK, ARLECDON 

Proposal PROPOSED TWO STOREY SIDE EXTENSION & SINGLE 

STOREY REAR EXTENSION 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 14 April 2022 

Parish Arlecdon and Frizington 

  

Application Num  4/22/2112/0B1 

Applicant Mr Stuart Wilson, Castle Lea, Flatt Walks, Whitehaven, CA28 

7RW, 

Location CASTLE LEA, FLATT WALKS, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal AMENDMENT OF CONDITION 2 (PLANS) OF PLANNING 

PERMISSION 4/21/2135/0F1, REDUCING DOUBLE GARAGE 

TO SINGLE GARAGE 

Decision Approve 

Decision Date 28 April 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

 

 

 

Page 101



Application Num  4/22/2091/0F1 

Applicant Mr Chris Slater, 6 Ehen Road, Thornhill, Egremont, CA22 

2SQ, 

Location 6 EHEN ROAD, THORNHILL 

Proposal TAKE DOWN EXISTING FRONT PORCH, BUILD NEW PORCH & 

DOUBLE GARAGE TO FRONT ELEVATION 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 21 April 2022 

Parish Beckermet with Thornhill 

  

Application Num  4/22/2073/0F1 

Applicant Mr Andrew Hawdon, 130 Devonshire Road, Millom, Cumbria, 

LA18 4LW, 

Location 130 DEVONSHIRE ROAD, MILLOM 

Proposal ERECT GROUND FLOOR EXTENSION TO THE REAR 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 11 April 2022 

Parish Millom 

  

Application Num  4/22/2069/0F1 

Applicant Mr & Mrs Peter Woolaghan, Pallaflat Farm, BIGRIGG, 

Egremont, CA22 2TX, 

Location PALLAFLAT FARM, BIGRIGG, EGREMONT 

Proposal PROPOSED STORE EXTENSION WITH EXTERNAL TERRACE TO 

EXISTING DETACHED GARAGE BLOCK 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 5 April 2022 

Parish Egremont 

  

Application Num  4/22/2069/0F1 

Applicant Mr & Mrs Peter Woolaghan, Pallaflat Farm, BIGRIGG, 

Egremont, CA22 2TX, 

Location PALLAFLAT FARM, BIGRIGG, EGREMONT 

Proposal PROPOSED STORE EXTENSION WITH EXTERNAL TERRACE TO 

EXISTING DETACHED GARAGE BLOCK 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 5 April 2022 

Parish St. Bees 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



Application Num  4/22/2072/0L1 

Applicant Network Rail Infrastructure Ltd, One Eversholt St, London, 

NW1 2DN, , 

Location ST BEES RAILWAY STATION, ST BEES 

Proposal LISTED BUILDING CONSENT FOR THE INSTALLATION OF 

FENCING AND RETROSPECTIVE CONSENT FOR THE 

REORIENTATED STAIRCASE AT SIGNAL BOX 

Decision Approve Listed Building Consent (start within 3yr) 

Decision Date 6 April 2022 

Parish St. Bees 

  

Application Num  4/22/2075/0F1 

Applicant Andrew Kendall, Wath Grove, Riverside, Grove , Cleator, 

CA23 3AE, 

Location WATH GROVE, RIVERSIDE GROVE, CLEATOR 

Proposal ALTERATIONS TO CREATE A BALCONY AT FIRST FLOOR 

LEVEL TO THE REAR OF THE PROPERTY 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 8 April 2022 

Parish Cleator Moor 

  

Application Num  4/22/2080/0F1 

Applicant Mr & Mrs S Sim, 12 Greystone Close, Whitehaven, Cumbria, 

CA28 8HR, 

Location 12 GREYSTONE CLOSE, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR SIDE EXTENSION 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 11 April 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2085/0F1 

Applicant Mr Kyle Shadforth, 8 Munroe Avenue, Millom, Cumbria, LA18 

5AL, 

Location 27 LONSDALE ROAD, MILLOM 

Proposal ERECT SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO REAR 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 19 April 2022 

Parish Millom 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



Application Num  4/22/2081/0F1 

Applicant Mr & Mrs Boakes, 37 Patterdale Avenue, Whitehaven, CA28 

8RX, 

Location 37 PATTERDALE AVENUE, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATION FOR SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 5 April 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2076/TPO 

Applicant Mr Peter McVeigh, 2 Park View, Egremont, Cumbria, CA22 

2BJ, 

Location 2 PARK VIEW, EGREMONT 

Proposal REMOVAL OF ENGLISH OAK TREE (RESUBMISSION OF 

4/21/2541/TPO) 

Decision Tree Preservation Part Approved Part Refused 

Decision Date 14 April 2022 

Parish Egremont 

  

Application Num  4/22/2082/0F1 

Applicant George Howard, 5 Links Crescent, Seascale, Cumbria, CA20 

1RB, 

Location 5 LINKS CRESCENT, SEASCALE 

Proposal SINGLE STOREY EXTENSION TO REAR AND SIDE OF A SEMI 

DETACHED DWELLING 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 5 April 2022 

Parish Seascale 

  

Application Num  4/22/2083/0F1 

Applicant Sam Sharp, Hill Brow Cottage, The Hill, Millom, LA18 5HF, 

Location HILL BROW COTTAGE, THE HILL, MILLOM 

Proposal DEMOLITION OF EXISTING STORE AND THE CONTRUCTION 

OF A SINGLE STOREY REAR EXTENSION, NEW ENTRANCE 

CANOPY 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 12 April 2022 

Parish Millom Without 

 

 

 

 

Page 104



Application Num  4/22/2097/0F1 

Applicant Mr Neal Hodgson, 23 Oak Crescent, Whitehaven, Cumbria, 

CA28 6LQ, 

Location 23 OAK CRESCENT, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal INSTALLATION OF DECKING TO SIDE AND REAR OF 

PROPERTY WITH A 122CM HIGH FENCE AROUND PART OF 

DECKED AREA (RETROSPECTIVE) 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 26 April 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2094/0F1 

Applicant Mr Smith, Midtown Farm, Cumbria, Pica, CA14 4QF, 

Location MIDTOWN FARM, PICA 

Proposal NEW AGRICULTURAL BUILDING IN FARMYARD 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 21 April 2022 

Parish Arlecdon and Frizington 

  

Application Num  4/22/2095/0B1 

Applicant SNG Hotel Cleator Moor Ltd, Greengate Business Centre, 2 

Greengate Street, Oldham, OL4 1FN, 

Location DENTHOLME, CRAGG ROAD, CLEATOR MOOR 

Proposal VARIATION OF CONDITION 2 OF PLANNING APPROVAL 

4/21/2301/0F1 - TERRACE TYPE HOUSING BLOCK 

CONTAINING 4X STUDIO APARTMENTS AND 4X TWO 

BEDROOM APARTMENTS, WITH PRIVATE CAR PARK FOR 8 

CARS INCLUDING 1 DISABLED BAY (WITH ACCESS OFF 

TODHOLES ROAD) 

Decision Approve 

Decision Date 22 April 2022 

Parish Cleator Moor 

  

Application Num  4/22/2096/0B1 

Applicant SNG Hotel Cleator Moor Ltd, Greengate Business Centre, 2 

Greengate Street, Oldham, OL4 1FN, 

Location DENTHOLME, CRAGG ROAD, CLEATOR MOOR 

Proposal VARIATION OF CONDITIONS 2, 3, 4 AND 5 OF PLANNING 

APPROVAL 4/20/2444/0F1 - CHANGE OF USE FROM VACANT 

RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME (USE CLASS C2) TO HOTEL (USE 

CLASS C1) 

Decision Approve 

Decision Date 22 April 2022 

Page 105



Parish Cleator Moor 

  

Application Num  4/22/2105/0F1 

Applicant Mr D Tomlinson, 9 Churchill Drive, Cumbria, Moresby Parks, 

CA28 8UZ, 

Location 9 CHURCHILL DRIVE, MORESBY PARKS 

Proposal GROUND FLOOR EXTENSION, ADDITION OF PITCHED ROOF 

TO EXISTING BAY WINDOW ON FRONT ELEVATION AND 

CONVERSION OF LOFT INCLUDING THE ADDITION OF TWO 

DORMER WINDOWS  

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 27 April 2022 

Parish Moresby 

  

Application Num  4/22/2101/0A1 

Applicant Sellafield, 1st Floor , 1 Albion Square, Whitehaven, CA28 

7NE, FAO Mr Ross Dixon, 

Location CUMBRIA STEELSTOCK LTD, WILLIAM PIT ROAD, 

WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal ERECTION OF TWO SIGNS 

Decision Approve Advertisement Consent 

Decision Date 26 April 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2106/0F1 

Applicant Mr Ronald Watson, Waverley, Greendykes, Egremont, CA22 

2JS, 

Location WAVERLEY, GREENDYKES, EGREMONT 

Proposal ERECTION OF A DETACHED GARAGE 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 26 April 2022 

Parish Egremont 

  

Application Num  4/22/2102/TPO 

Applicant Cumbria County Council, Skirsgill Depot, Skirsgill, Penrith, 

Cumbria   CA10 2BQ, FAO: Miss Emma Chapman, 

Location MAIN STREET, EGREMONT 

Proposal TREE WORKS TO A LIME TREE 

Decision TREE PRESERVATION APPROVE 

Decision Date 12 April 2022 

Parish Egremont 

Page 106



  

Application Num  4/22/2141/0F1 

Applicant Mrs J Kay, 7 Seacote Gardens, Cumbria, St Bees, CA27 0AT, 

Location 7 SEACOTE GARDENS, ST BEES 

Proposal SINGLE STOREY SIDE EXTENSION FOR LOUNGE AND UTILITY 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 3 May 2022 

Parish St. Bees 

  

Application Num  4/22/2104/DOC 

Applicant Home Group, Anthorne House, Irish Street, Maryport, CA15 

8AD, FAO: Kerry Dryden, 

Location JEFFERSON PARK, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 4 AND 6 OF PLANNING 

APPROVAL 4/21/2339/0F1 

Decision Approve 

Decision Date 5 May 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2117/0O1 

Applicant Mr James Benn, Shelley, Church Walk, Millom, LA18 5BZ, 

Location SHELLEY, CHURCH WALK, MILLOM 

Proposal OUTLINE APPLICATION (WITH ALL MATTERS RESERVED) TO 

ERECT ONE DWELLING 

Decision Approve in Outline (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 28 April 2022 

Parish Millom 

  

Application Num  4/22/2119/0L1 

Applicant Mr Leon Ducommun Dit Verron, Whitehaven Hall, 150 Queen 

Street, Whitehaven, CA28 7BA, 

Location 150 QUEEN STREET, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal APPLICATION FOR LISTED BUILDING CONSENT TO ERECT A 

STUD WALL IN THE BASEMENT TO SEPARATE THE ROOM 

INTO TWO, WITH A DOORWAY IN THE WALL 

Decision Approve Listed Building Consent (start within 3yr) 

Decision Date 3 May 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

 

 

 

 

Page 107



Application Num  4/22/2115/0F1 

Applicant RKZ Hotel and Pub Company Ltd, Lamb Inn, The Strand, 

Keevil, Trowbridge, BA14 6LL, FAO Ronnie Carter, 

Location CALDER HOUSE HOTEL, THE BANKS, SEASCALE 

Proposal REMOVAL OF TIMBER PERGOLA AND CONSTRUCTION OF 

TIMBER FRAMED AND TIMBER CLAD FLAT ROOFED 

EXTENSION (RETROSPECTIVE) 

Decision Approve 

Decision Date 28 April 2022 

Parish Seascale 

  

Application Num  4/22/2130/0R1 

Applicant Mr I Madrick, 14 Lonsdale Mews, Bank Yard Road, Parton, 

Whitehaven, CA28 6AN, 

Location PLOT 2, LAND AT BANK YARD ROAD, PARTON, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL OF RESERVED MATTERS FOR 

PLOT 2 RELATING TO ACCESS, APPEARANCE, LANDSCAPING 

& LAYOUT (FOLLOWING OUTLINE APPROVAL 4/17/2022/0O1 

FOR SEVEN DWELLINGS)  

Decision Approve Reserved Matters 

Decision Date 4 May 2022 

Parish Parton 

  

Application Num  4/22/2131/0R1 

Applicant Mr I Madrick, 14 Lonsdale Mews, Bank Yard Road, Parton, 

Whitehaven, CA28 6AN, 

Location PLOT 3, LAND AT BANK YARD ROAD, PARTON, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL OF RESERVED MATTERS FOR 

PLOT 3 RELATING TO ACCESS APPEARANCE, LANDSCAPING & 

LAYOUT (FOLLOWING OUTLINE APPROVAL 4/17/2022/0O1 

FOR SEVEN DWELLINGS) 

Decision Approve Reserved Matters 

Decision Date 4 May 2022 

Parish Parton 

  

Application Num  4/22/2116/TPO 

Applicant Ms Wilson, Linnet Moss, Rheda Park, Frizington, CA26 3TA, 

Location LINNET MOSS, RHEDA PARK, FRIZINGTON 

Proposal REMOVAL AND CROWN REDUCTION OF TREES PROTECTED 

BY A TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 

Decision TREE PRESERVATION APPROVE 

Decision Date 20 April 2022 

Parish Arlecdon and Frizington 

Page 108



  

Application Num  4/22/2124/0F1 

Applicant Sellafield Ltd, Hinton House, Birchwood Park Avenue, Risley, 

Warrington, Cheshire, WA3 6GR, FAO Mr Martin Chown, 

Location SELLAFIELD SITE, SEASCALE 

Proposal STANDBY EMERGENCY GENERATION PROJECT - RE-PROFILE, 

RETAINING WALL AND FENCE 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 28 April 2022 

Parish Beckermet with Thornhill 

  

Application Num  4/22/2124/0F1 

Applicant Sellafield Ltd, Hinton House, Birchwood Park Avenue, Risley, 

Warrington, Cheshire, WA3 6GR, FAO Mr Martin Chown, 

Location SELLAFIELD SITE, SEASCALE 

Proposal STANDBY EMERGENCY GENERATION PROJECT - RE-PROFILE, 

RETAINING WALL AND FENCE 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 28 April 2022 

Parish Ponsonby 

  

Application Num  4/22/2124/0F1 

Applicant Sellafield Ltd, Hinton House, Birchwood Park Avenue, Risley, 

Warrington, Cheshire, WA3 6GR, FAO Mr Martin Chown, 

Location SELLAFIELD SITE, SEASCALE 

Proposal STANDBY EMERGENCY GENERATION PROJECT - RE-PROFILE, 

RETAINING WALL AND FENCE 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 28 April 2022 

Parish Seascale 

  

Application Num  4/22/2125/0F1 

Applicant Mr & Mrs Newton, 11 Churchill Drive, Moresby Parks, 

Whitehaven, CA28 8UZ, 

Location 11 CHURCHILL DRIVE, MORESBY PARKS, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY KITCHEN EXTENSION AND 

DEMOLITION OF EXISTING GARAGE AND ERECTION OF A 

NEW GARAGE 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 3 May 2022 

Parish Moresby 

  

Page 109



Application Num  4/22/2126/DOC 

Applicant Mr J English, The Beeches, Foxfield, Broughton-In-Furness, 

LA20 6BX, 

Location PLOT 4A, FORMER COUNCIL DEPOT, HOLBORN HILL, MILLOM 

Proposal DISCHARGE OF CONDITION 5 OF PLANNING APPROVAL 

4/17/2347/0F1 

Decision Approve 

Decision Date 26 April 2022 

Parish Millom 

  

Application Num  4/22/2132/0B1 

Applicant Mr & Mrs James, 2 Bay View Close, Holborn Hill, Millom, LA18 

5ES, 

Location PLOT 2, FORMER COUNCIL YARD, HOLBORN HILL, MILLOM 

Proposal VARIATION OF CONDITION 4 (DRAINAGE MANAGEMENT) OF 

PLANNING APPROVAL 4/17/2418/0R1 RESERVED MATTERS 

APPLICATION FOR THREE BEDROOMED 2 STOREY DWELLING 

Decision Approve 

Decision Date 5 May 2022 

Parish Millom 

  

Application Num  4/22/2134/0F1 

Applicant Mr Hooks, 1-2 Peckmill, St Bees, CA27 0EJ, 

Location 1-2 PECKMILL, ST BEES 

Proposal DEMOLITION OF EXISTING SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION; ERECTION OF NEW TWO STOREY EXTENSION 

AND CANOPY TO REAR; CONSTRUCTION OF NEW CHIMNEY 

STACK TO NORTH EAST GABLE; ERECTION OF DETACHED 

STORE; ALTERATIONS TO FRONT ELEVATION OF EXISTING 

DWELLING INCLUDING ERECTION OF A CANOPY 

Decision Approve (commence within 3 years) 

Decision Date 3 May 2022 

Parish St. Bees 

  

Application Num  4/22/2153/0B1 

Applicant Mr Richard Mawson, Bailey Ground Hotel, Drigg Road, 

Seascale, CA20 1NP, 

Location KELD GREEN, THE BANKS, SEASCALE 

Proposal AMENDMENT OF CONDITION 4 (PARKING PROVISION) OF 

PLANNING APPROVAL 4/18/2169/0F1 MATERIAL CHANGE OF 

USE FROM RESIDENTIAL DWELLING (C3) TO A GUEST 

HOUSE (C1) WITH PROVISION OF ADDITIONAL PARKING 

(RETROSPECTIVE) 

Decision Withdrawn 

Page 110



Decision Date 19 April 2022 

Parish Seascale 

  

Application Num  4/22/2133/0F1 

Applicant Cellnex Limited, R+ 4th floor Berkshire,, 2 Blagrave Street, 

Reading, RG1 4AZ, 

Location LOW STOWBANK FARM, KIRKLAND ROAD, ENNERDALE 

Proposal THE REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT OF AN EXISTING 12 

METRE HIGH TELECOMMUNICATIONS POLE WITH A 20 

METRE HIGH TELECOMMUNICATIONS LATTICE TOWER 

WHICH WILL SUPPORT 3NO. RADIO ANTENNAS, 2NO. 

TRANSMISSION DISHES AND ANCILLARY EQUIPMENT, 

ALONG WITH GROUND BASED CABINETS AND ANCILLARY 

DEVELOPMENT 

Decision Withdrawn 

Decision Date 4 April 2022 

Parish Ennerdale and Kinniside 

  

Application Num  4/22/2133/0F1 

Applicant Cellnex Limited, R+ 4th floor Berkshire,, 2 Blagrave Street, 

Reading, RG1 4AZ, 

Location LOW STOWBANK FARM, KIRKLAND ROAD, ENNERDALE 

Proposal THE REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT OF AN EXISTING 12 

METRE HIGH TELECOMMUNICATIONS POLE WITH A 20 

METRE HIGH TELECOMMUNICATIONS LATTICE TOWER 

WHICH WILL SUPPORT 3NO. RADIO ANTENNAS, 2NO. 

TRANSMISSION DISHES AND ANCILLARY EQUIPMENT, 

ALONG WITH GROUND BASED CABINETS AND ANCILLARY 

DEVELOPMENT 

Decision Withdrawn 

Decision Date 4 April 2022 

Parish Lamplugh 

  

Application Num  4/22/2138/TPO 

Applicant KP Arborists, Hollydene, Harras Moor, Whitehaven, CA28 

6SG, FAO: Mrs Karysha Cottier, 

Location BRAITHWAITE COURT, MARKET STREET, EGREMONT 

Proposal REMOVAL OF A CHESTNUT TREE PROTECTED BY A TREE 

PRESERVATION ORDER 

Decision Tree Preservation Part Approved Part Refused 

Decision Date 4 May 2022 

Parish Egremont 

  

Application Num  4/22/2151/HPAE 

Page 111



Applicant Mr & Mrs Coulter, 9 Taylors Way, Whitehaven, Cumbria, CA28 

9PD, 

Location 9 TAYLORS WAY, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal PRIOR NOTIFICATION FOR PROPOSED SINGLE STOREY REAR 

EXTENSION TO CREATE SUNROOM 

Decision Permitted Development 

Decision Date 3 May 2022 

Parish Whitehaven 

  

Application Num  4/22/2167/0N1 

Applicant Steven Milligan, Green House Farm, Lowca, Whitehaven, 

CA28 6QS, 

Location GREEN HOUSE FARM, LOWCA, WHITEHAVEN 

Proposal APPLICATION TO DETERMINE IF PRIOR NOTIFICATION IS 

REQUIRED FOR THE ERECTION OF AN AGRICULTURAL 

MACHINERY/IMPLEMENT BUILDING 

Decision Approve Notice of Intention 

Decision Date 5 May 2022 

Parish Lowca 

  

Application Num  4/22/2181/TPO 

Applicant KP Arborists, Hollydene, Harras Moor, Whitehaven, CA28 

6SG, FAO: Mr Paul Cottier, 

Location 4 WEST END, RHEDA PARK, FRIZINGTON 

Proposal REMOVAL OF SCOTS PINE TREE PROTECTED BY A TREE 

PRESERVATION ORDER 

Decision TREE PRESERVATION APPROVE 

Decision Date 28 April 2022 

Parish Arlecdon and Frizington 

  

Application Num  4/22/2183/DOC 

Applicant Lamplugh Village Hall Committee, Lamplugh Village Hall, 

Lamplugh, WORKINGTON, Cumbria   CA14 4SF, , 

Location LAMPLUGH WOMENS INSTITUTE, LAMPLUGH 

Proposal DISCHARGE OF CONDITIONS 8 & 9 OF PLANNING APPROVAL 

4/20/2057/0F1 

Decision Approve 

Decision Date 29 April 2022 

Parish Lamplugh 

  
 

 

 

Page 112


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 13 April 2022
	4a Application 4/21/2368/0O1 - Land at Nethertown Road, St Bees
	4b Application 4/21/2369/0R1 - Land to the south of Southrigg, Nethertown Road, St Bees
	4c Application 4/21/2534/0O1 - Land at Bowrie Fauld, West of Smithy Banks, Holmrook
	5 Schedule of Delegated Decisions



